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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	BERNADINE SILVA, 

          Employee, 

               Claimant,

          v. 

STATE OF ALASKA, 

          (Self-insured) Employer,

                Defendant.
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)
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)
	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No. 199403157

AWCB Decision No. 10-0003  

Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on January 7, 2010.


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employee’s claim on August 18, 2009, in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Joseph Kalamarides represented the employee (Employee).  Attorney Patricia Shake represented the employer and insurer (Employer).  The employee testified at the hearing.  The record was kept open for two weeks for the final Affidavit of Attorney’s Fees and Costs to be filed.  After receipt of the affidavit, the record was closed on September 1, 2009.


ISSUES
Employee contends she is entitled to medical benefits and related transportation costs for her low back and neck from January 10, 2005 and continuing, interest on unpaid medical costs, and attorney fees and costs.  Employer argues continuing medical benefits of surgery and epidural injections are not indicated or necessary in treating the employee’s low back and neck pain.

1. Is the employee entitled to medical benefits and related transportation costs for her low back and neck from January 10, 2005 and continuing?

2. Is the employee entitled to interest on unpaid medical costs?

3. Is the employee entitled to attorney fees and costs?


FINDINGS OF FACT

The following facts were established by a preponderance of the evidence available in the record:

1. Employee injured her back on about February 20, 1994, in the course of her employment with Employer where she worked as a cook.  On her portion of the Report of Injury, dated February 25, 1994, Employee stated her injury was caused when she twisted her back during a struggle with an inmate, also stating “[A]n inmate grabbed me from behind on the crotch.  I turned around hitting him with my clipboard.  He tried to overpower me, grabbing me by the waist.  I struggled to get out of his grasp, hurting my neck.”

2.  On February 25, 1994, Employee was examined by Jim Lewis, D.O. of the Resurrection Bay Health Center.  She complained of a back ache and stated she had been assaulted by an inmate at the prison on February 20, 1994, and that “actually he tried to rape her.” Her medical history included 3-4 laminectomies and a microlumbar discectomy 10 years prior, plus a fusion of her low back in 1987.  Dr. Lewis noted she was “moving around real well, but it’s just starting to get worse and worse and starting to freeze up, and she’s had enough back pain and knows she needs to attend to it early.”
 On examination, he found Employee’s neurosurgery was “fairly negative,” and that she had a little decreased flexion/extension in the right leg.  The doctor’s assessment was “lumbosacral psoas strain,” and he prescribed physical therapy, Parafon Forte DSE, and Vicodin.  He also directed Employee to do no lifting, straining, pushing, or sitting, and to rest.
 

3. On February 28, 1994, Employee reported to the Seward General Hospital for physical therapy.  Michelle R. Gogan, PT, performed an initial evaluation.  Employee reported she had been assaulted by one of the inmates while working at Spring Creek Correctional Facility.  Regarding the objective examination, PT Gogan’s notes reflect “the trunk range of motion was not formally tested secondary to patient refusing to attempt these motions.”
  Ms. Grogan also stated “[p]atient needs to use two pillows under her hips in order to lie prone.”
  Employee attended two subsequent physical therapy sessions on March 2 and March 4, 1994.  On March 4, Employee later called the physical therapist and stated “Dr. Lewis doesn’t feel PT is doing any good, so she won’t be coming back to PT.”
  Dr. Lewis’s chart notes from that date confirm the doctor’s discontinuance of physical therapy.
   On March 4, Employee also reported she was still in pain, that she was allergic to the muscle relaxant Parafon Forte, and that the pain medication Vicodin had caused her to have diarrhea.  Dr. Lewis prescribed the muscle relaxant Feldene and scheduled a follow-up for the following week to “see if we can get her back to work as soon as possible….”

4. On March 9, 1994, Employee reported to Dr. Lewis she had been doing well until Sunday, when she sat and did her taxes and her left leg started hurting quite a bit clear up into her hip again.
  Dr. Lewis performed acupressure and osteopathic manipulative treatment (OMT) in the lumbosacral and sciatic area.  He also prescribed the muscle relaxant Soma and recommended Employee resume physical therapy.

5. On March 11, 1994, Employee resumed physical therapy with PT Gogan.  On that date, PT Gogan noted an increase in Employee’s range of motion.  On March 16, her third visit, Employee reported improvement.

6. On March 17, 1994, however, Employee told Dr. Lewis in a telephone call that she was “having a lot of pain.”  Dr. Lewis reported Employee was “tearful, crying, wants to go up and see somebody in Anchorage.”
  He approved a referral to an orthopedic surgeon and encouraged Employee to go; he also encouraged Employee to get a steroid epidural as well, which she refused at that point.

7. On March 18, 1994, Dr. Lewis visited Employee at her home.  The doctor administered 50 mg of Phenergan and Demerol, and gave Employee another 50 mg to administer to herself if necessary.  The doctor continued to recommend either a steroid epidural or some further treatment.
  On that date, Dr. Lewis authored a letter to the Workers’ Compensation Board, in which he stated, as to her prior severe injuries to her back, Employee was “progressing fine and was medically stable” before the date of the work injury on February 20, 1994.  Dr. Lewis recommended further consultation with an orthopedic or neurosurgeon.
  

8. On March 22, 1994, Employee began receiving physical therapy at Chugach Physical Therapy in Anchorage.
  

9. On March 23, 1994, Dr. Lewis wrote a letter to the adjuster in response to questions, confirming his opinion Employee had sustained a work-related injury on February 20, 1994, after being attacked by an inmate.  Dr. Lewis also excused Employee from work from February 20, 1994, to the date of the letter and opined Employee might have one to two more months before she returns to work.

10. On March 24, 1994, Employee was examined by William B. Reinbold, M.D., an orthopedic surgeon.  Employee relayed to Dr. Reinbold she had pulled muscles in her low back trying to escape from a sexual assault by an inmate at work.
  Employee told Dr. Reinbold she had been twisting and turning, trying to kick the inmate and jerk free as he held her from behind.
  She stated she developed low back pain the next day.  Dr. Reinbold noted Employee’s past history of back surgeries. However, after an objective examination, Dr. Reinbold maintained he did not find a current injury.
  He had no treatment recommendations and referred Employee back to her treating physician, Dr. Lewis. 

11. On March 28, 1994, Ross Brudenell, M.D., an orthopedist in Anchorage, examined Employee as locum for Michael Newman, M.D., the surgeon who performed Employee’s prior back surgeries.
  Employee told Dr. Brudenell she had an “altercation with an inmate at her job in late February.
  Dr. Brudenell noted Employee’s report of “basically aching lumbar pain with some very mild exacerbation of her pre-existing post-op sciatica along with some lumbar spasms and thoracolumbar spasms.”
  On objective examination, the doctor noted Employee had good range of motion, that she could nearly flex her fingertips to the floor within a few inches, and that extension and lateral bending right and left were somewhat painful.  The doctor also noted Employee’s neurologic condition was stable.  Dr. Brudenell recommended Employee continue physical therapy at Chugach Physical Therapy in Anchorage, with an anticipated goal of returning to work on approximately April 15, 1994.
  Employee attended therapy on March 28, 29 and 30, April 1, 5, and 8, 1994.
  

12. On March 30, 1994, Employee called Dr. Newman for a prescription of Flexeril.  Upon reviewing Dr. Brudenell’s examination notes from March 28, Dr. Newman prescribed Flexeril and recommended Employee try an epidural steroid injection.
  Employee also reported to J. Tars, P.T., on that date that her pain had decreased.  She refused pool therapy because it made her skin itch.

13. On April 11, 1994, Employee reported to Dr. Brudenell she was still having considerable burning pain in her back, even after having had two epidural steroid injections recently.
  The doctor questioned whether Employee would be able to return to work, given the level of her symptoms.  He continued Employee’s physical therapy and medication regimen two weeks and extended her total disability time about two weeks as well.
  Employee attended physical therapy on April 14, 15, 19, 21, 22, 26, 28, and 29, 1994.
 

14. On May 3, 1994, Employee was examined by Dr. Newman, who noted Employee was two months post-injury and that she had obviously improved some.
  Employee reported the epidurals had helped somewhat, but her main problem now is that she cannot sit for any period of time, and for her, going to work is a 70 mile round-trip.
  The doctor requested an MRI scan before making any further recommendations.

15. On May 6, 1994, Employee had a lumbar spine magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan.  The impression of John J. McCormick, M.D., the radiologist, was that postoperative changes were defined, but there was “no evidence of arachnoiditis and no new nor recurrent disc protrusions nor herniations….”
 

16. On May 10, 1994, Dr. Newman noted that although the MRI scan was negative, Employee had continued complaints of presacral and coccygeal pain.
  Dr. Newman ordered a bone scan.
  The doctor indicated that if the bone scan did not reveal anything additional, Employee would have to live with her problem.

17. On May 10, 1994, Employee also obtained X-rays of her left hip and pelvis.  The x-rays were read by George Ladyman, M.D., who found the joint space is well maintained and no degenerative changes or osteoarthritic change or any acute bony abnormality in the left hip.  Further, other than evidence of a fusion in the lower lumbar spine, the doctor found the bones of the pelvis were unremarkable.
 

18. On May 12, 1994, Employee underwent a pelvic bone scan.
  Dr. McCormick found no focal abnormalities involving the pelvis, sacrum, or either hip and also found the adjacent soft tissues were normal.

19. On May 17, 1994, Dr. Newman discussed the bone scan results with Employee.  He informed her she most likely could do her job except for the thirty minute drive and prolonged sitting that accompanies it.
  Dr. Newman referred Employee to Glenn A. Ferris, M.D., for pain management.
  Dr. Newman indicated the estimated date of Employee’s return to work, if any, was in approximately two months.  He also opined Employee was a viable candidate for job retraining.

20. On June 27, 1994, upon referral from Dr. Newman, Dr. Glenn Ferris of Alaska Spine Institute evaluated Employee for pain management.
  Dr. Ferris noted Employee was currently employed as a Cook II with the Department of Corrections in Seward and had been off work due to an on-the-job injury for the past four months.  Employee stated she had been working the kitchen at the Seward Correctional Center when she was attacked by an inmate who grabbed her.
  Employee began experiencing back pain as she fought to get away.  She returned to work the following two days, but the back pain “continued to intensify.”
  Dr. Ferris found Employee had symptoms consistent with lumbar causalgia.
  The doctor prescribed the medications Tegretol and a Catapres II patch, to be applied to Employee’s spine.  The doctor also arranged for Employee to have sympathetic blocks, twice weekly, alternating sides, until she has had three on each side.
  Dr. Ferris’s final diagnoses were myoligamentous strain, lumbar sympathetic causalgia,
 and status post surgical intervention.

21. On July 5, 1994, Dr. Ferris administered the first of the recommended left sacral sympathetic blocks.
  In a letter to Dr. Newman of that date, Dr. Ferris noted Employee had reported adverse reactions to the prescriptions for Medrol Dosepak and Tegretol.  The doctor discontinued those prescriptions and instead prescribed the nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory medication Relafen and the antidepressant Desyrel.
  Dr. Ferris indicated Employee was to remain off work and that her return to work might be as late as December 1994.

22. On July 12, 1994, Employee received her second left sacral sympathetic block at the S3 level from Dr. Ferris.
  On July 15, she told Dr. Ferris she had a decrease in her symptoms subsequent to receiving the injection.
  However, she had subsequently taken a car trip and noticed an increase in her symptoms the following day.  On July 15, Employee also requested a refill of pain medication.  Dr. Ferris refilled Employee’s prescription for the pain medication Anexsia, but the doctor also noted further discussion with Employee was needed as to whether a second opinion “with regards to her need for continuance of pain medication” would be in order.  The doctor emphasized Employee would be informed that only a limited amount of pain medication will be prescribed for her through this office.

23. On July 19, 1994, Employee received her third left sacral sympathetic block.
  In a July 19 letter to Dr. Newman, Dr. Ferris stated Employee reported significant improvement in her symptoms following the second block; however, after two days, she sat in a car and traveled for a long period of time, thus exacerbating her condition again.
 

24. On July 26, 1994, a fourth left lumbar sympathetic block was administered.
  Dr. Ferris reported to Dr. Newman that Employee’s numbness, burning, and tingling sensations had decreased by approximately 10% following the third block.  Because the symptoms were now at a higher level, the fourth block was administered without difficulty.
   

25. On August 2, 1994, the fifth left lumbar sympathetic block was administered.
  Dr. Ferris informed Dr. Newman Employee was reporting increased pain in her coccygeal region, which had begun the day before after bending over to pick some things up from the floor.  Employee had told Dr. Ferris the previous lumbar block had offered pain relief for three days, and then the pain had returned to its previous intensity.  Because Employee would not be eligible for more pain medication for about a week, Dr. Ferris prescribed a six-week trial course of acupuncture.
  The doctor scheduled Employee for a sixth sympathetic block to follow in one week, and if that was unsuccessful, he recommended consideration of lumbar epidurals.

26. On August 11, 1994, Dr. Ferris administered a sixth and final left lumbar sympathetic block.
  In a letter to Dr. Newman of that date, Dr. Ferris reported Employee had said the burning sensation she previously experienced in her left hip has completely resolved.  However, she does still experience an “achy” sensation in the left gluteal region.
  Dr. Ferris renewed Employee’s prescriptions for Catapres and the pain medication Wygesic and discontinued Anexsia due to employee’s reports of side effects.

27. On August 12, 1994, Employee called Dr. Ferris’s office requesting Mepergan Fortis and Soma, stating the prescription for Wygesic had caused itching.  Dr. Ferris had his nurses tell the Employee he did not feel the patient’s pain level is at a point to justify the possible addictive effects of these medications and would not provide these to her at that time.
  The doctor’s nurses reported Employee became upset upon receiving this information. 

28. On August 23, 1994, Dr. Ferris administered a trigger point injection with steroids.
  In an August 23 letter to Dr. Newman, Dr. Ferris reported the burning sensation in her back and tailbone had resolved, along with the aching in that region.  However, Employee continued to report severe discomfort in the left buttock region.
  The doctor renewed Employee’s prescription for Soma.

29. On August 31, 1994, Employee reported back to Dr. Ferris, stating she was still unable to sit due to increased pain in that position.  Employee also stated the previous assessment she could return to work in one month was not realistic, as she could not sit for the length of time required to commute to and from work.  Dr. Ferris therefore referred Employee for a Functional Capacities Evaluation (FCE).  Dr. Ferris gave Employee a limited supply of Soma to last until after the FCE.

30. On September 1 and September 2, 1994, PT Donald Mormile performed an FCE.
  PT Mormile concluded Employee was in the sedentary category of Physical Demand Characteristics of Work and stated “[i]t is doubtful she could sustain even this level at this time.  Her disabling factors are pain rated as 5/10, deconditioning, weak left hip abductors, and the inability to withstand spinal compressive forces.”
  PT Mormile did believe Employee could improve with appropriate exercise and training.

31. On September 6, 1994, Employee returned to Dr. Ferris, reporting increased pain after her FCE.
  Employee had taken a 100 mile trip to Moose Pass as a passenger in a van.  Dr. Ferris administered a left sciatic nerve block, as Employee stated that was the only procedure helpful in relieving her pain.  Dr. Ferris also referred Employee to Jayesh Makim, M.D. for evaluation regarding her lumbar pain.

32. On September 16, 1994, Anchorage Diagnostic Imaging performed a PA and Lateral Chest and Right ribs bone scan.
  The scan was read by John McCormick, M.D., whose impression was no acute intrathoracic process, noting the right ribs were intact.  

33. On October 3, 1994, Dr. Ferris wrote to Dr. Newman, reporting Employee’s increase in activity level, including walking and stretching.
  Employee still reported trouble sitting and also reported gradually returning pain in her left hip region, but not as intense as previously.  Dr. Ferris believed overall Employee was making improvement and had much more mobility than when she began treatment in his office.  Dr. Ferris prescribed a trial use of a galvanic stimulator for low back and pelvic regions.

34. On November 8, 1994, at the employer’s request, Bruce Bradley, Jr., M.D., of Washington Orthopedic Services, performed an employer’s Medical Evaluation (EME) of Employee.
  Dr. Bradley noted Employee had been previously evaluated by Dr. John Burns of Washington Orthopedic on November 16, 1992.  At that time, Employee had had three back operations, laminectomy type, the first in 1979, then in 1981 and then again in 1982.  When Dr. Burns saw Employee in 1992, he noted that she had low back pain of indeterminate etiology, probably chronic pain type behavior, some depression and chronic pain.
 Dr. Burns had referred Employee for a psychiatric evaluation in 1992.   Dr. Bradley also noted Employee’s history of an accident in 1980 in which she had injured her low back and a lumbar fusion in 1987.  Employee reported she suffered a work-related injury on February 20, 1994, when she was working as a cook in what she described as a maximum security prison.  Employee told Dr. Bradley an inmate assaulted her, she was grabbed from behind, hit the inmate with her clipboard, struggled to get away and developed law back and left buttock pain.  She feels this occurred because she jumped, twisted, and kicked.
  Dr. Bradley reviewed the May 12, 1994 bone scans ordered by Dr. Lewis and read them as showing no focal abnormalities involving the pelvis, sacrum,
or hips.  Upon review of the other X-rays, MRIs, and additional medical records, Dr. Bradley’s diagnosis was lumbar strain with residual subjective findings and exhibition of some pain behavior.
  Dr. Bradley found Employee medically stable, and without a ratable impairment and that he could recommend no additional treatment. Finally, Dr. Bradley opined Employee could return to her work as a cook and he thought she would be able to drive.

35. On November 11, 1994, Employee presented to Dr. Ferris complaining of continued pain in her coccyx.
  In a letter to Dr. Newman of that date, Dr. Ferris recommended a work-hardening program, which, however, was rejected by Employee due to her inability to tolerate the 35-mile drive to work.  Dr. Ferris recommended a lower electromyography (EMG)/nerve conduction study (NCS) in order to evaluate whether a strengthening program would be beneficial.   Employee at that time was taking Benadryl to assist with sleep and Soma as needed for pain.

36. On November 15, 1994, a bilateral lower extremity EMG/NCS was performed at Alaska Spine Institute.
   Dr. Ferris’s impression of the EMG study was that it revealed a multi-level minor change, consistent with a possible nerve-root irritation.
  However, Dr. Ferris found no true radiculopathy.  Dr. Ferris read the NCS results to be within normal limits, except for the left H-reflex, which appeared to be somewhat slowed.
  Dr. Ferris opined that coupled with the hint of nerve-root irritation at multiple lumbar levels on the left, it is possible that this might represent an L5-S1 change.  Dr. Ferris summarized the studies indicated a sustained left L5-S1 neuropathic change.
 

37. On November 15, 1994, Dr. Ferris authored a letter to Dr. Newman in which he stated Employee continued to complain of pain in the coccygeal region and into her legs and that she continued to have difficulty sitting.
  Employee had also informed Dr. Newman she was being treated by John Mues, M.D., for cancer concerns.  

38. On November 21, 1994, Employee reported to Dr. Ferris again with complaints of deep aching pain in the left hip, gluteal region, and coccyx.  The intense burning previously experienced had resolved.  Dr. Ferris recommended Employee complete the series of epidural injections she had previously begun and discontinued when the relief only lasted a few days.
  

39. On November 29, 1994, Dr. Ferris performed an epidural injection of steroids at the L-5 S1 level.
  Dr. Ferris noted Employee had presented to his office complaining of increased pain in the left gluteal region, as well as itching.  Dr. Ferris changed Employee’s medication from Soma to Cataflam and recommended a series of lumbar epidurals.
 

40. On December 2, 1994, Employee returned to Mormile Physical Therapy complaining of constant left ischial pain which was exacerbated by sitting, bending, lifting, pushing, and pulling.
  Employee returned to Mormile Physical Therapy on December 6, 9, 13, 14, and 15, 1994.
 

41. On December 16, 1994, Dr. Ferris administered another steroid epidural at the L-2/3 level.
  On December 20, 1994, Dr. Ferris administered a left sciatic nerve block.
  Dr. Ferris reported Employee continued to experience sciatic pain.
  Dr. Ferris renewed Employee’s prescriptions for Flexeril and Catapres.  On December 27, 1994, Dr. Ferris administered another steroid epidural at the L-2/3 level.
  On January 5, 1995, Dr. Ferris reported Employee complained of muscle spasms that were unrelieved by Flexeril.
  Employee was continuing to use a TENS unit, which offered moderate relief.  Although Employee noted continued pain and soreness in the sacral region, she noted an overall improvement in her condition.
 Dr. Ferris continued Employee’s prescription for Cataflam, a limited supply of Vicodin for pain, and limited Employee’s Flexeril with the goal of discontinuing it.
  Employee returned to Dr. Ferris for evaluation on January 31, 1995, at which time the doctor refilled Employee’s Catapres and Vicodin and gave her a prescription for the nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory medication Dolobid.

42. On February 9, 1995, Dr. Ferris performed a Permanent Partial Impairment (PPI) Rating Evaluation.
  Dr. Ferris evaluated Employee “in light of her lumbar work-related injuries.”  Dr. Ferris found Employee had a “regional (lumbar) impairment total … of 5%....”  Dr. Ferris stated that as no other portions of Employee’s spine were rated that day, he found her to have a total 5% whole person impairment.
  On that date, Dr. Ferris also noted Employee reported feeling much better, but she continued to experience pain in her left buttock region and tingling down her left lower extremity into the foot and toes.

43. On February 11, 1995, at the employer’s request, Employee underwent an EME by neurologist James Watson, M.D., and orthopedist Bryan Laycoe, M.D.
  Employee relayed to the doctors she had an injury while on the job on February 20, 1994, “when she was assaulted by an inmate and in her efforts to resist the attack sustained a complex of back and leg discomfort.”
  After examination and review of the medical records, the doctors’ joint impression was “‘lumbar strain’ phenomenon, following an incident in employment, February 20, 1994, persistent symptoms.”
  The doctors also found Employee to have a complex history of lumbar injury and surgery, with a total of three laminectomy procedures, two-level L4-5 and 5-1 fusions, with residual symptoms.  Finally, the doctors found Employee had “failed back syndrome,” with a “well-established chronic pain phenomenon.”
  The doctors noted Employee’s current “exact same symptoms” had been noted by Dr. Bradley as being reported pre-injury in 1992 [sic, corrected to 1982 in a 07/24/1995 letter to the adjuster] to Dr. Bradley’s colleague.
  The doctors opined Employee’s current symptoms were related to her prior back conditions.  They also concurred with Dr. Bradley in finding Employee was medically stable, had no permanent impairment, needed no further recommended treatment, and was physically capable of returning to her work as a Cook II at the Seward Correctional Facility.  In response to a question concerning psychological effects, the doctors opined it “would seem not unlikely that she would harbor concern and resentment regarding the circumstances under which she was injured.”
  Finally, the doctors found any need for continued medication “should not lie with her work-related situation.”

44. On March 1, 1995, Dr. Ferris reported he had encouraged Employee to seek other employment, but Employee felt she could not find an employable position that does not require sitting.  Dr. Ferris advised he had “no new insights for this patient, except to provide her with medications to help manage her symptoms.”
   

45. On March 31, 1995, Dr. Ferris advised Employee’s attorney she had been approved for work, but her employer would not accept her back until she was able to perform 100% of her former duties.

46. On April 6, 1995, Dr. Ferris administered a piriformis trigger-point injection.
  Dr. Ferris noted Employee had reported increased pain due to having to drive for extended periods of time.
  Dr. Ferris opined medium to light duty work with possible job modification and job retraining might be appropriate.
  On April 13, 1995, Dr. Ferris declined to administer a repeat piriformis trigger point injection because Employee had had no improvement with the first injection.
  Dr. Ferris stated he was considering referring Employee for a second opinion.

47. On April 20, 1995, Dr. Ferris did administer a second piriformis trigger-point injection. Employee reported decreased pain, possibly due to the duragesic patches.
  On April 28, 1995, Dr. Ferris reported to Dr. Newman that he would administer no further piriformis injections due to their minimal benefit.

48. On May 15, 1995, Dr. Ferris noted Employee reported no overall decrease in pain levels and she still found sitting unbearable.
  Dr. Ferris opined Employee could return to work as long as she had sedentary activities that would provide her with the option of standing, an option that Employee advised was not available through her present employer.
  Dr. Ferris referred Employee to Dr. Paul Craig for an MMPI-2 study, as well as to Dr. Ken Pervier for a second-opinion evaluation of her pain.

49. On May 18, 1995, Employee was evaluated by Dr. Paul Craig of the Alaska Guidance and Diagnostic Clinic.
  Employee relayed her lengthy history of back injuries and surgeries.  She claimed to have total resolution of pain after a fusion in 1987.  However, Employee reported after working at Spring Creek Correctional Facility for more than six years, on February 20, 2004, she was accosted by a sexually aggressive male in a walk-in refrigeration unit.  Employee stated “the inmate had a grasp on her, and that she struggled against him.”
  Employee stated she had not sought treatment for several days, thinking her discomfort would “simply remit.”  After review of the records and examination, Dr. Craig’s diagnostic impression was that Employee had a “pain disorder associated with both psychological factors and a general medical condition.”  The doctor recommended: (1) a consultation with a psychiatrist for management of depression; (2) a pain treatment program focused upon reactivation, decreased pain behaviors, and improved psychological functioning for purposes of coping with residual discomfort; and (3) a vocational assessment if Employee desired to return to work.
  On 05/24/1995, Dr. Craig reported Employee became tearful when he reported his findings to her.

50. On July 3, 1995, Carol Jacobsen of Northern Rehabilitation Services issued a Closure Report, based upon the findings of the EME physicians, Drs. Laycoe and Watson, that Employee was medically stable, did not receive a permanent impairment, and was able to return to work.

51. On March 26, 1996, Employee was referred by the Division of Workers Compensation for a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) by Douglas G. Smith, M.D., an orthopedic consultant with Anchorage Medical & Surgical Clinic.
  On April 8, 1996, Dr. Smith evaluated Employee.  She reported her history of back injuries and surgeries, but stated that as of the last surgery in 1987, she had felt “wonderful and pain-free.”
  Employee told Dr. Smith that on February 20, 1994, she “was assaulted at work by a sexually aggressive inmate.”
  Employee stated she had two days off following that and took one more day off.  Employee relayed that as of February 25, 1994, she stopped working.  After review of the records and examination, Dr. Smith opined Employee had been relatively asymptomatic in relation to her prior back surgeries at the time of the incident of February 1994 and that after the incident she became “significantly symptomatic.”  Dr. Smith found a “significant amount of her symptomatology … is due to Chronic Pain Syndrome….”  He found, however, Employee’s range of motion deficit “would be related to four previous back surgeries….” and were “not related to the incident….”  In terms of impairment, Dr. Smith found a “grand total estimated impairment prior to February 1994 of 13% whole person.” [emphasis added]  Regarding the level of impairment exhibited in his office, Dr. Smith noted Employee refused to cooperate in formal measurement of extension “although informally she demonstrated she had this capability.”  Dr. Smith also found inconsistencies in terms of range of motion of the back and straight leg raising.  Dr. Smith found these inconsistencies invalidated the range of estimations and therefore he assigned “0% impairment for range of motion.”  Dr. Smith also found “0% impairment due to measurable neurologic deficit.”
  Subtracting the 13% pre-existing impairment to February 1994 from the 15% whole person impairment resulted in “a 2% whole person impairment which would be attributed to the February 1994 incident.”
   Dr. Smith summarized his impression that Employee had been functioning fairly well in February of 1994, with minimal residuals from her four previous spinal surgeries.  As a result of the February 1994 incident, Employee had not had more surgeries but “remains in the category of multiple spinal surgeries, now with residual symptomatology.”
  Dr. Smith further opined “whatever her physiologic range of motion impairment is at this time, that it is related to the previous spinal surgeries and fusions, and not probably related to the incident of February 1994.”

52. On July 11, 1996, Dr. Ferris, who had not seen Employee for a year, but noted her condition had been largely unchanged during that time, referred Employee to Robert Fox, M.D., to take over as Employee’s primary treating physician for the work injury, as the doctor’s practice was nearer to Employee’s residence at the time.
  Employee was then taking Ultram to manage her pain.  Dr. Ferris encouraged Dr. Fox to continue conservative management of Employee’s condition.
 

53. On about September 23, 1996, Richard W. Garner, M.D., examined Employee.
  Employee complained of pain in her left knee, both wrists, and right shoulder following a fall at home a couple of months prior when her leg gave way under an attack of sciatica.  Dr. Garner ordered X-rays at Providence Seward Hospital.  He diagnosed bilateral wrist pain, tendinitis of the right shoulder, diffuse anterior knee sprain with possible plica, and chondral calcinoses of the left knee.
  Dr. Garner noted that at the end of the visit, while Employee was describing “the circumstances under while she was compelled to retire from Spring Creek, the patient became somewhat red-eyed and I believe she was on the verge of tears.”
  Dr. Garner thought Employee might possibly have an element of depression and that perhaps a diagnosis of fibromyalgia might be entertained.

54. On November 17, 1996, in response to a request from Jill Friedman & Associates, Vocational Rehabilitation and Medical Management, Dr. Fox signed a Physician’s Prediction of Physical Capacities, opining Employee would be able to perform light work once she reached medical stability and that she would “realize Permanent Partial Impairment as a result of her injury of 02/20/1994.”
  Dr. Fox disapproved, however, the positions of Cook and Stock Clerk.

55. From December 26, 1996, through March 19, 1998, Employee continued to receive treatment, including prescriptions for medication and for physical therapy and passive modalities of therapy from Dr. Fox.
  

56. On March 19, 1998, Providence Seward Medical Center Rehab Services discharged Employee from physical therapy due to “inability to participate … secondary to excruciating headaches, increased spasms, increased difficulty in walking, difficulty breathing as well as increased anger over her situation….”
  Employee reported to Dr. Fox on that same date the “exercise is really making me hurt….”  Dr. Fox discontinued physical therapy pending further evaluation and indicated he would schedule Employee with a psychologist “prior to determining a treatment regime.”

57. On April 1, 1998, Employee reported to Providence Seward Medical Center for an initial evaluation by Mark Ifflander, PT, for a different physical therapy approach, as ordered by Dr. Fox on March 27, 1998.
  Employee told PT Ifflander she had low back pain, pain in her left buttocks region, and some radiating pain at times down the back of her left leg.  She reported all these problems seemed to have started about four years ago when she was working at Spring Creek Corrections Center and she was aggressively assaulted by an inmate at the facility, who attempted to rape her.
  The new physical therapy approach would include moist hot heat and ultrasound, a therapeutic exercise program to improve overall health and fitness level, and education on proper body mechanics and lifting techniques.
  On April 3, 1998, she stated her left hip and buttocks were still very painful and she had to take a Valium.
  Employee participated in physical therapy on April 1, 8, 15 and 23, 1998.  On April 22, 1998, Employee was discharged from the new therapeutic program, reporting she was happy with her progress.
  Employee would continue with a home exercise program and stay active in order to keep her low back muscles strong.

58. On April 18, 1998, through May 19, 1998, Employee continued to treat with Dr. Fox for medical management and evaluation of her back pain.

59. On August 13, 1998, Thomas Gordon, M.D., evaluated Employee upon referral from Dr. Fox.
  Employee informed Dr. Gordon that while working at the prison in Seward, “she was allegedly assaulted by an inmate and developed sore muscles and subsequent left sciatica with pain in her buttock going down the posterior aspect of her leg.”
  On physical examination, Dr. Gordon noted Employee was “intermittently tearful,” with a “straight and nontender” back, although she complained of tenderness over the left sciatic notch.  “Straight-leg raise sign” was absent.  Dr. Gordon’s assessment was sciatica, “probably related to previous L5 nerve root irritation.”
  Dr. Gordon did not opine regarding any connection between Employee’s presenting problems and the February 1994 work incident, which he noted was, “from a medical standpoint, moot.”  Dr. Gordon noted that Employee did fall after her last MRI scan, with some worsening of symptoms, and he noted further a surgeon “would be unlikely to do surgery for what basically is a pain complaint without evidence of motor or reflex losses.”
  Finally Dr. Gordon suggested an ultra-sensitive TSH and B12 level for Employee’s depression and “labile” mental status.

60. On August 24, 1998, Employee returned to Dr. Fox at Harbor Medical Clinic for pain management and evaluation regarding her back pain. She continued to be monitored by Dr. Fox throughout 1998 and 1999.

61. On March 31, 1999, upon referral from Dr. Fox, Kenneth K. Yeung, M.D., of Orthopedic Consultants of Washington examined Employee.
  Employee relayed her history of back injuries and surgeries but stated she “did very well between ’88 and ’94” until she was attacked by an inmate while working for the Alaska Department of Corrections.
  Employee stated she had been in pain ever since.  Dr. Yeung found Employee “probably has pain from the back” and should probably look at pain management, including a dorsal column stimulator.  Dr. Yeung referred Employee to S. Du Pen, M.D., for a consultation for that purpose.

62. On April 2, 1999, Dr. Du Pen evaluated Employee regarding her possible candidacy for implantation of a spinal cord stimulator.
  As the doctor did not have Employee’s complete medical records, he advised her to schedule a full consultation at a later date, once he had had time to obtain and review her records.

63. On May 2, 1999, Dr. Du Pen evaluated employee’s candidacy for a spinal cord stimulator.
  Dr. Du Pen noted Employee described her baseline pain as 9/10, that she was “obviously depressed,” and that she would be seeing Dr. LaCross, the clinic’s psychologist, to “get a handle on her pain symptoms and the psychodynamics involved….”
  Dr. Du Pen’s diagnosed Employee as follows: 1) failed back syndrome with multiple decompressions and fusion from L3 to the sacrum; 2) situational depression; 3) a history of trauma; and 4) chronic pain syndrome.  The doctor indicated he wanted to get a note from Dr. Fox and then would consider placement of a spinal cord stimulator test lead after Employee had been evaluated by the psychologist.

64. On May 5, 1999, psychologist Dr. LaCross performed a psychological evaluation.
  Employee told Dr. LaCross she had sciatic pain and back pain that began in 1994, “when she was a cook at a maximum security prison.”
  She stated that an inmate who was one of her helpers attacked her and attempted to rape her, “which resulted in the injury.”  Employee told Dr. LaCross the inmate was attempting to tear her clothes off, but because of a strap she wore around her chest and waist area, he had been unable to remove her clothes and therefore she had not been raped.  Employee also had attempted to summon security with a button she pressed, but the button was not helpful, “and basically she was on her own.”
  Dr. LaCross’s impression was that Employee was “very somatically focused.”
  The doctor believed Employee still suffered psychologically “from the trauma of the near rape several years ago.”  The doctor noted Employee had received very little help about the attack, and it was “very clear that it was covered up, and she was therefore unable to file a lawsuit or even find a union lawyer who would help her out.  She is still very angry and tearful about this.”
  Dr. LaCross found no psychological reason Employee should not have a spinal cord trial.
 

65. On May 6, 1999, Dr. Du Pen proceeded with implantation of the spinal cord stimulator.
 On May 14, 1999, Dr. Du Pen evaluated Employee’s progress with the stimulator.  The spinal cord stimulator was not effective in the low back and right hip region, areas in which Employee had a majority of her pain.  Dr. Du Pen removed the stimulator and suggested Employee’s pain be managed an Alaska doctor.  Dr. Du Pen recommended Dr. Chandler or Dr. Swift.

66. On May 21, 1999, Employee returned to Dr. Fox for treatment and medical management of her back pain.
  Dr. Fox referred Employee to Joe Chandler, M.D., and wrote prescriptions for the pain medication Darvon, anti-diarrheal medication Lomotil, and anti-anxiety medication Xanax.
   

67. On July 15, 1999, Leon Chandler, M.D., of A.A. Pain Clinic evaluated Employee.  Employee told Dr. Chandler she had a coccygectomy in 1972 from a traumatic injury.  Employee also described left buttocks pain and the inability to sit or have pressure over the area without significant pain.  The employee reported she had had chronic back pain for many years and that in addition to the 1972 coccygectomy, she had undergone a 1979 disc surgery in Las Vegas, back laminectomy and fusion in 1982, re-fusion in 1982 and in 1987.
   Her current main complaint was “of an ‘osteophyte’ that is located in the coccygeal area on the left side that is giving her pain and difficulty with sitting.”
  Employee reported she had been assaulted in 1994 by an inmate when she worked in the prison system as a cook and that she had “a great deal of psychological problems from it and cannot get away from it.”
  Dr. Chandler’s diagnosed Employee with severe anxiety and depression, a failed back with multiple surgeries and oral medications, and probable severe degenerative disk disease in the cervical region as well as the lumbar region, with osteophyte in the coccyx area that caused pain in the buttocks.
  Dr. Chandler recommended a psychological consult with Dr. Alberts, maintenance of pain medications through Dr Fox, and possibly referral of Employee to Dr. Newman, her prior back surgeon, for surgical intervention for the osteophyte that Employee was complaining about.
  Dr. Chandler believed Employee’s biggest problem was psychological, and he recommended she have the psychological consult with Dr. Alberts before proceeding further, including the administering of any additional medications.

68. On August 3, 1999, Employee consulted with Dr. Fox for treatment and medical management for her back pain.
  Employee was treated by Dr. Fox twelve times between August 3 and November 16, 1999,
 when she was evaluated by Deborah Gideon, Ph.D., a clinical neuropsychologist with Robert Alberts, M.D., Associates, at Langdon Clinic.

69. On November 16, 1999, Dr. Gideon examined Employee noted Employee had presented with complaints of chronic pain due to injuries she incurred in an assault at her workplace in 1994.
  Dr. Gideon stated Employee “appeared to be suffering from Post Traumatic Stress Disorder” with the assault.  Employee also described a decline in her cognitive functions, “including a loss of memory and concentration apparent during my interview with her.”
  Dr. Gideon recommended: (1) psychotropic medication “for depression/anxiety which likely are exacerbating her somatic concerns and pain; (2) a neuropsychological evaluation to elucidate the nature and extent of her cognitive difficulties; and (3) individual psychotherapy “directed to the reduction of her depression/anxiety and to the resolution of the PTSD.”
   Dr. Gideon suggested that she herself conduct the neuropsychological evaluation and follow-up psychotherapy.

70. On February 1 and February 2, 2000, Dr. Gideon conducted a neuropsychological evaluation of Employee.
  Dr. Gideon noted she had obtained additional historical information from a report by Dr. Wayne Downs.  In her interview with Employee on November 16, 1999, Employee had reported to Dr. Gideon that she had suffered multiple physical complaints, including intense pain, since the time she was the victim of an assault in 1994 by an inmate at the prison where she worked.  Employee had been employed as a cook in the prison system from 1988 to 1994 at the time the incident occurred.  Employee told Dr. Gideon the inmate had forced his way into a freezer where she was securing some food and attempted to rape her, the alarm button had malfunctioned, and Employee had injured herself in her attempts to break away from the inmate.
  Employee’s past psychiatric history included four sessions with clinical psychologist Cynthia Dodge four years prior, and she had had a “nervous breakdown” and been hospitalized 25 years earlier.  Employee also relayed she had been involved in a dementia workup by Dr. Wayne Downs.
  After examination and testing, Dr. Gideon concluded Employee was “functioning intellectually generally at average level and that her overall neurocognitive functioning [was] generally intact.”
  Dr. Gideon recommended continued neurologic evaluation to rule out underlying neuropathology, neuropsychiatric management of Employee’s symptoms of depression and pain, involvement in individual psychotherapy to aid in reduction of depression and anxiety and in the resolution of Employee’s Posttraumatic Stress Disorder, and a follow-up neuropsychological evaluation in 1-2 years.

71. On March 3, 2000, Employee presented to Paul Sanders, M.D., at the Providence Seward Medical Center Clinic, complaining of chronic back pain, stating she wished to switch providers.  Dr. Sanders listed Employee’s presenting problems as (1) lumbosacral pain of unclear etiology and (2) post-traumatic stress disorder with possible additional psychiatric diagnosis.
  Employee stated to Dr. Sanders she had had six years of excruciating, disabling back pain since an assault while working for the Spring Creek Correctional Facility.
  Employee presented to the Clinic to “request continuing care and coordination of care.”
  Dr. Sanders’ assessment was chronic lumbosacral left-sided back pain, post-traumatic stress disorder by history, and possible alternative psychiatric diagnosis.
  Dr. Sanders did “not feel capable currently of managing her chronic psychiatric stress syndrome or chronic pain management;” however, he requested Employee obtain prior physician records for review so a decision about continued care could be made.

72. On April 6, 2000, Employee returned to Dr. Sanders at Providence Seward Medical Center for re-examination.
  Employee reported to Dr. Sanders that since the last visit on March 3, 2000, her pain had remained stable, sometimes causing ‘tears in her eyes’” and that sometimes her “left leg gives out on her causing her to fall.  Employee denied any change in the typical status of her pain, “which has been present since 1994.”
  Dr. Sanders’ assessment was a history of chronic lumbosacral pain unresponsive to multiple interventions and evaluations and posttraumatic stress syndrome with anxiety disorder and possible depression.
  Dr. Sanders opined Employee’s “overlying psychological condition makes treating her chronic pain difficult and will likely not improve unless the patient continues with psychiatric and psychological evaluations.”  The doctor also noted “no evidence … that the patient has significant nerve impairment and … no evidence that surgical procedures would be of any benefit….”
  Dr. Sanders recommended referral to a physiatrist at the Providence Alaska Medical Center rehabilitation center for evaluation for management of chronic pain, rehabilitation, and recommendations.  Employee declined this referral.  Instead, Dr. Sanders referred Employee back to A.A. Pain Clinic and Dr. Chandler for chronic pain management.

73. On June 6, 2000, Employee was evaluated by Davis C. Peterson, M.D., an orthopedist.
  Employee reported she had undergone a lumbosacral fusion of L4 to the sacrum posteriorly in 1987 and had been doing quite well until an assault at Spring Creek Correctional Facility in 1994.
  Dr. Peterson understood from her report she experienced the assault as though she had received multiple episodes of blunt trauma to the low back and left buttock with significant axial loading.  She reported she also apparently has had significant psychosocial trauma related to the assault and had been undergoing psychiatric management for this.
  On objective examination, Dr. Peterson noted Employee’s gait was somewhat antalgic on the left side, although she was able to do some heel-and-toe walking.  Dr. Peterson also observed Employee had a breakaway weakness pattern with inconsistent effort; however, he believed most of Employee’s motor units were intact and relatively normal.  The doctor found Employee was hypersensitive in the left gluteal region and tender adjacent to the sacrum at the S3 or S4 segment.  Dr. Peterson’s assessment was chronic pain syndrome in the left buttock perisacral region with solid posterior lateral fusion in 1987, with adequate decompression.  Dr. Peterson found no acute radicular signs or symptoms.  He also diagnosed Employee with dysesthetic left buttock pain, probably related to local trauma and “unresponsive to measures so far.”
  Dr. Peterson opined Employee did not have any surgical pathology and probably would benefit from a repeat pain evaluation.  Dr. Peterson stated he was not optimistic Employee would “ever be totally pain-free based upon her presentation and the chonicity of her symptoms.  It is likely she will have to live with a certain amount of pain and learn to deal with this indefinitely.”

74. On June 23, 2000, Employee again reported to Providence Seward Medical Center and was examined by Kevin Cook, M.D.
  Employee relayed her history of multiple low back surgeries, including laminectomies and fusion at multiple levels of the lumbosacral spine.  Employee reported she had been assaulted at a prison when she had been working there as a cook.  Dr. Cook opined Employee might be carrying diagnoses of regional pain syndrome and posttraumatic stress disorder or syndrome.
  Employee requested a trigger point injection and reported she would follow up with her new physiatrist at the Alaska Regional Medical Center in July.  Dr. Cook administered the trigger point injection and encouraged Employee to remain active.

75. On August 9, 2000, Lawrence Stinson, M.D., of Advanced Pain Centers examined employee at Alaska Regional Hospital.
  Employee told Dr. Stinson she had originally injured her back at work in February of 1994 while struggling with an inmate.  Employee reported for the last 6-1/2 years she had had left low lateral back pain extending into the left hip region.  She would occasionally get referred pain down to her knee but never below that.  She described her current pain as 8/10 in severity, but sometimes it could be as bad as 9/10 and at its best at 6/10.  The pain was deep and burning and almost always present.  The pain was made better by standing, lying down on her right side, walking, and moving around and made worse by sitting, coughing, sneezing, bending, lifting, pushing or vehicular transfers.
  Employee reported she was currently taking Flexeril, Neurontin, Periactin, Singulair, Ambien, and Alprazolam, plus several other medications she could not recall.  Dr. Stinson’s diagnosed left sacroiliac (SI) joint arthropathy.  The doctor recommended a left SI joint steroid injection at Advanced Pain Centers and then a follow-up with an Advanced Medical Center therapist.
  Employee understood that with her previous fusion she was at a slightly increased risk for recurrent SI joint symptoms.

76. On August 10, 2000, Dr. Stinson administered a left SI joint injection.
  Dr. Stinson referred Employee to a physical therapist with a specialty in pain management.  The doctor also planned to reinject Employee’s SI joint as needed in the future to palliate Employee’s pain.

77. On August 21, 2000, Employee reported to Advanced Pain Therapeutics for her Initial Physical Therapy Evaluation.
  Employee relayed to PT Amy Hay she had a long history of low back pain; however, her current symptoms began February 20, 1994, when she was physically assaulted by an inmate.
  Her current pain level was 7/10.  PT Hay planned to see Employee one to two visits per week for eight weeks, focusing on lumbar stabilization training and instruction in a home exercise program.
  On that same date, Dr. Stinson examined Employee and scheduled her for a repeat steroid injection,
 which was performed the next day.

78. On August 22, 2000, Employee reported to PT Valerie Phelps, who fitted Employee with a pelvic ring and lumbosacral stabilizing belt, which Employee was unable to tolerate due to local tenderness under the belt.
  The therapist recommended intensive trunk and pelvic ring stabilization exercises, including a home stabilization program for the lumbar spine and pelvic ring.

79. On September 7, 2000, C. Blake Stanfield, M.D., examined Employee at the Providence Seward Medical Center.
  Employee complained of a left knee injury on 07/27/2000; she had also fallen the day before and her knee had swollen.  Employee reported a history of chronic pain in her back and requested a refill of Flexeril for muscle spasms in her back.  Dr. Stanfield’s assessment was prepatellar bursitis and back strain with muscle spasms.  He refilled Employee’s Flexeril prescription and gave her a prescription for Vioxx.

80. On September 20, 2000, Employee returned to Dr. Stinson for re-evaluation of her chronic left posterior hip pain.
  She stated she had fallen since her last visit and struck her knee.  Employee reported the pain in her left hip had responded to the injections, but only for a few days.  She also had not kept her physical therapy follow-up because of the difficulty posed by living out of town. Also, the SI belt had made her pain worse, so she had stopped using it.
  Dr. Stinson’s assessment was a possible mild cognitive impairment, left prepatellar bursitis, and left sacroiliac arthropathy.  He recommended Employee return to Advanced Pain Center for a further physical therapy evaluation to pinpoint the pain syndrome in Employee’s left hip.
  

81. On September 21, 2000, PT Valerie Phelps again recommended intensive trunk and pelvic ring stabilization exercises, which were difficult to schedule because Employee lived out of town.
  Employee also received a left ischial bursa injection in her knee on that date.

82. On October 3, 2000, Dr. Stinson administered a caudal epidural steroid injection for left lumbar radiculopathy.  Dr. Stinson indicated Employee had presented with a possible double crush type injury involving the left S1 and L5 nerve roots.
  On December 7, 2000, Dr. Stinson administered a trigger point injection at the lower sacrum area, which Employee told the doctor was too painful for her to even ride in her car.
  The doctor’s post-procedure diagnosis was “myofascial pain with possible arthritic bone spur formation of the distal left sacrum and S1 prominence on the left.”

83. On March 22, 2001, Dr. Stinson administered another caudal epidural steroid injection, plus a right sacrotuberous ligament injection, and an injection in the region of Employee’s right sacral osteophyte.
  Dr. Stinson indicated Employee was approximately 50% better overall from her original presenting symptoms, “that had been present for the previous ten years.”
  The indication for the injection was to “continue to palliate her symptomatology with a combination of physical therapy and injection therapy.”

84. On May 3, 2001, Dr. Stinson again administered a Left L5-S1 facet injection and a Left presacral trigger point injection.
  The doctor indicated Employee had returned for her ongoing complaint of chronic left low back, hip and sacral pain, and that the injection would be performed to palliate Employee’s symptomatology.  Employee stated she obtained several days of pain relief from each injection.  She received more prolonged relief when combining the injections with physical therapy.
  

85. On May 31, 2001, Employee reported to Providence Seward Family Care for evaluation and treatment for depression and anxiety by Dr. Stanfield.
  Employee requested a refill of her anxiolytic or anti-anxiety medication Alprazolam or Xanax, which had been prescribed for her by Dr. Alberts.  Employee related she was suffering anxiety and depression related to her back injury, and therefore her request related to a Workers’ Compensation Injury.
  She had also suffered “another bad fall” about one year prior to this appointment.  Dr. Stanfield refilled Employee’s prescription for Alprazolam and referred her to Langdon Clinic for further follow-up.

86. On July 20, 2001, Dr. Peterson again examined Employee.
  Employee reported she had experienced some new symptoms “in the last several months, particularly pain and spasming, weakness around the right thigh,” and she was experiencing “some episodes of giving way on the right leg and hip.”
 Dr. Peterson’s assessment was as follows:  1) chronic low back and buttock pain on the left with prior decompression fusion of L4 to the sacrum; 2)  coccygectomy; 3) chronic pain syndrome, etc.; and 4) new onset of right thigh pain and weakness with an uncertain etiology.  Dr. Peterson recommended an updated EMG and NCS of both lower extremities to look for any upper level lumbar changes
 and, in the absence of new overt radiculopathy, continued conservative care through Advanced Pain Center of Alaska.

87. On August 10, 2001, Shawn Johnston, M.D., of Rehabilitation Medicine Associates evaluated Employee in an electrodiagnostic consultation.
  Employee reported to she had had multiple spinal surgeries 10 to 15 years prior and had been doing “quite well until an assault at Spring Creek Correctional Facility in 1994, after which time she began having significant back pain as well as significant psychosocial trauma.”
  Employee reported her current symptoms as pain in the left buttock region and also in the right anterior thigh region.  She noted she had previously had problems with falls and weakness in her left lower extremity, but she did not at present have those symptoms.
  Dr. Johnston administered electrodiagnostic testing, including bilateral peroneal, tibial, motor and sural sensory nerve conduction studies.  The studies were within normal limits; and needle evaluation in the bilateral lower extremities “revealed some old neurogenic motor unit potential changes in the right L3-L4 distribution.”
  The doctor concluded there was “no evidence of ongoing active denervation at this time, certainly nothing to explain the type of symptoms she is currently having.”
  Dr. Johnston opined that most of Employee’s symptoms were axial, and he did “not think things such as an epidural injection would be very helpful.”
  Further, Dr. Johnston thought Employee’s pain would be very difficult to manage because her “psychological state of mind is also impacting her degree of pain.”  He stated, “There is no question in my mind that she has a significant reason to have discomfort.”

88. On August 22, 2001, Dr. Peterson noted Employee continued to have low back pain in the lumbosacral junction region “at the site of previous blunt trauma.”
  Dr. Peterson reviewed the EMG studies and NCS performed by Dr. Johnston, which showed only chronic old changes at L3-4 and “[n]othing indicating ongoing axonal loss.”
  
Dr. Peterson recommended updating Employee’s MRI to look for pathology above her fusion that might “suggest a post fusion stenosis problem or upper level root irritation in the absence of radiculopathy.”
  The doctor opined, however, that “[m]ost likely her pain is at the myofascial level.”

89. On August 23, 2001, Employee returned to Advanced Pain Therapeutics to be re-evaluated.  Employee stated to PT Valerie Phelps she had “almost fallen down” several times since that past spring and that she got a “sharp deep pain in [the] groin.”
  

90. That same date, Employee had a psychotherapy session with Janet Mules, M.D.
  Employee expressed her anger and disgust, “especially at doctor in the past” who said she was lying.
  On August 23, 2001, Dr. Stinson administered another left L5-S1 intrafacetal joint injection, which the doctor indicated was performed “to palliate her symptoms and enhance her physical therapy rehabilitation.”

91. On August 31, 2001, an MRI of Employee’s lumbar spine was conducted on referral from Dr. Peterson.
  The study was read by Janice Anderson, M.D., as showing, in addition to stable post-operative changes at L5-S1, central canal stenosis at L2-3, more prominent than on the previous study performed on 11/21/1998.

92. On September 20, 2001, Dr. Peterson reviewed the MRI results with Employee, noting his review indicated a solid arthrodesis, L4 to the sacrum, with a well-maintained L3-L4 canal.  Dr. Peterson also noted L2-L3 facet arthropathy with some moderate subarticular stenosis and grade 1 degenerative listhesis.
  Dr. Peterson recommended Employee stay conservative in her management, given Employee’s emotional status and her negative EMG and lack of clear, correlating symptomatology,
  He stated, “unless she shows clear objective findings, I would be quite conservative in her care from a surgical standpoint.”
  

93. Employee also met with Janet Mules, M.D., of Providence Behavioral Medicine Group (Langdon Clinic) on that date and requested a list of antidepressants.

94. On October 4, 2001, Dr. Stinson administered another left L5-S1 facet injection and a left presacral trigger point injection.
  Dr. Stinson indicated Employee’s “recurrent symptomatology necessitates reinjection.”
  The doctor also discussed with Employee the possibility of performing radiofrequency ablation to get longer term pain relief.

95. On November 7, 2001, Employee returned to Dr. Stinson for reevaluation of her left low back pain.
  Employee showed the doctor her pain log, in which she had recorded her response to the left L5-S1 intrafacetal joint injection.  She had obtained a decrease in pain from 8/10 to 3/10 for about two hours.  Then she had pulled and fell on a piece of equipment and her pain elevated to 4-5/10.  On physical examination, Dr. Stinson noted Employee’s left L5-S1 facet region was tender.  His assessment was L5-S1 facet arthropathy and mild depression.  The doctor recommended proceeding with radiofrequency ablation of the L5-S1 facet joint, which he performed on that date.  The doctor also encouraged Employee to keep pursuing care and treatment from a psychiatrist.
     

96. On November 28, 2001, Employee returned to Dr. Stinson following her radiofrequency ablation.  She reported it had reduced her overall pain, but resulted in now extreme localization of her remaining pain symptoms.”
  Dr. Stinson assessed Employee’s condition as a “possible incisional neuroma in the upper lumbar region” and “sacrotuberous ligament inflammation and possible instability.”
  Dr. Stinson recommended injections, to be coupled with physical therapy and possible resumption of the stabilization belt that had been attempted previously. 
  Dr. Stinson performed an injection on that date.

97. On December 13, 2001, Employee returned to Advanced Pain Therapeutics for her ninth of twelve prescribed visits, noting a sharp increase in right thigh pain and an increase in her sacral pain with sitting.
  Employee returned to Advanced Pain Therapeutics on January 14 and 16, 2002.

98. On January 16, 2002, Dr. Stinson discussed different treatment options with Employee.
  Employee had undergone left sacrotuberous ligament cryoablation in addition to cryoablation of her lumbar incisional neuroma.  Employee stated that, following these procedures, her only remaining pain was localized in the medial aspect of her iliac crest in the region of the posterior superior iliac spine.
  Her pain had decreased to 4/10, which was “the lowest it had been ‘in years.’”
  Dr. Stinson assessed “left cluneal neuralgia or neuroma in the region of the left posterior superior iliac spine,” and he agreed to perform “cryoablation of this particular point,” as Employee stated all of her remaining pain seemed to be associated with that area.
  

99. On January 17, 2002, Employee attended the twelfth of twelve prescribed physical therapy appointments
 and on that same date received a cryoablation of the left cluneal neuralgia in two separate locations from Dr. Stinson.

100. On February 13, 2002, Employee returned to Dr. Stinson with “different complaints since her last cryoblation of her left cluneal neuralgia….”  Employee stated her only remaining complaints are “well-localized left lower lumbar spasm in the paraspinal region just medial and superior to the posterior superior iliac spine.”
  Dr. Stinson noted Employee had had “[g]ood clinical effect of cryoablation of cluneal neuralgia,” but he recommended she be evaluated by physical therapy for possible treatment with either a TENS unit or muscle stimulator.
  On February 13, 2002, Employee also reported to physical therapy at Advanced Pain Therapeutics of Alaska and obtained a muscle stimulator from RS Medical Rental on February 14, 2002.

101. On February 14, 2002, Employee was reevaluated at the Providence Mental Health Unit.
  The therapist’s DSM IV Diagnoses on Axis I (episodic disorders) was depression/anxiety disorder NOS, PTSD, adjustment issues regarding late-in-life disability, and cognitive disorder.
  On Axis III (physical disorders), the therapist’s notes included “neuromuscular complaints, chronic pain regarding old injury….”
  

102. On May 2, 2002, Employee returned to PBMG Langdon Clinic, following a one-month trip outside Alaska.
  She reported to the therapist that she had had a “falling out” with her prior doctor and would be changing her internal medicine doctor to Dr. Loretta Lee.  The therapist’s assessment was that Employee’s symptoms were mild and largely reactive to late-in-life issues and a mild cognitive disorder.
  She recommended Employee continue the anxiolytic medication Alprazolam and possibly start a trial of the anti-depressant Paxil.

103. On May 8, 2002, Employee returned to Dr. Stinson with complaints of recurrent low back pain that was more severe after a fall.
  Employee reported a ‘deep pressure’ in her low back and sacral region, made worse by sitting or lifting any objects.  The doctor assessed Employee with “new symptoms with evidence of L5-S1 disc involvement after a fall.”
  Dr. Stinson recommended a lumbar MRI, after which she would return to Advanced Pain Centers for further evaluation and possibly a surgical consultation.

104. On May 15, 2002, a lumbar spine MRI was performed at Alaska Regional Diagnostic Imaging and read by Lawrence P. Wood, M.D,
 who read the MRI as showing “severe spinal stenosis secondary to retrolisthesis, severe posterior facet degeneration, and mild posterior spondylosis at L2-L3 which is a new finding compared to 1994,”
 in addition to the previously noted post-surgical changes at L4-5 and L5-S1.  Dr. Wood noted that, upon comparison to the August 31, 2001, MRI taken at Providence Alaska Medical Center, the new MRI indicated the amount of retrolisthesis and spinal stenosis at L2-3 was unchanged.

105. On June 5, 2002, Employee returned to Dr. Stinson to discuss the results of the lumbar MRI.
  Employee stated she continued to have low tailbone pain.  Employee stated this was often associated with hypersensitivity in the perineal region and also sometimes made it difficult for personal hygiene.
  Dr. Stinson discussed the MRI results and assessed Employee with “sacral and coccydynia with symptoms suggestive of sympathetic pain from the ganglion impar.”
  Dr. Stinson scheduled Employee for a “ganglion impar injection” and a subsequent neurolytic procedure if the injection succeeded in palliating Employee’s “sacral and perineal sensitivity….”
 Dr. Stinson also refilled Employee’s prescription for Ultram on that date.

106. On July 18, 2002, Dr. Stinson administered a ganglion impar injection and an injection of the incisional neuroma in the midlumbar region,
 where Employee continued to have pain in an area where she previously had an electric bone stimulator placed and later removed.  Dr. Stinson noted an injection usually “palliated her symptoms there for several weeks.”
  

107. On August 7, 2002, Employee continued physical therapy at Advanced Pain Therapeutics with PT Phelps.  The Progress Note indicates Employee had had 15 treatments there since August 21, 2000.
  On August 7, 2002, Employee was also examined by Dr. Stinson.
  Employee stated her lower lumbar pain had improved following the recent injections, but she still desired treatment for occasional “bursts” of “sharp burning pain that extends to the lower gluteal region on the left side.”
  Dr. Stinson assessed Employee with left inferior gluteal neuralgia, sacrotuberous ligament tenderness along the left side, and positive epidural inflammation with tension and mobility signs.
  The doctor scheduled Employee for a caudal epidural steroid injection and an inferior gluteal nerve injection, which he performed the next day.

108. On August 18, 2002, Employee received psychotherapy at PBMG Langdon Clinic.
    Employee stated an attack by an inmate while she was working at Spring Creek Correctional Center in 1994 had resulted in chronic pain syndrome and PTSD.
  The doctor assessed Employee as depressed, with little motivation or energy, and as suffering from chronic pain with multiple complaints.
  The doctor continued Employee’s prescription for Alprazolam and recommended a prescription of Celebrex.

109. On August 28, 2002, Employee met with Dr. Stinson for reevaluation concerning her recent injections.
  Employee reported significantly improved sitting tolerance for three days following the injections.  She currently had recurrent left inferior gluteal pain brought on primarily by sitting, plus some midline lower lumbar discomfort.  Employee described, however, a “25% improvement.”
  Dr. Stinson assessed Employee with “significant palliation of her long-standing inferior gluteal neuralgia….”  Dr. Stinson noted the injection was the first modality that had appreciably palliated Employee’s symptoms.
  Dr. Stinson recommended proceeding to “pulsed radiofrequency ablation of the left inferior gluteal nerve,” which the doctor hoped would “result in several weeks to several months of palliation of her chronic left gluteal pain.”
  Dr. Stinson performed this procedure on August 29, 2002.

110. On September 5, 2002, Employee returned to PBMG Langdon Clinic, reporting the antidepressant medication Celexa had made her drowsy and she had decided not to take it.
  Employee requested a continuation of the Alprazolam that had been prescribed by Dr. Alberts.  Employee reported feeling much better and denied depression.  She was calmer and more focused during this visit.  The doctor discussed counseling options, particularly anti-anxiety techniques.
 

111. On September 18, 2002, Employee returned to Dr. Stinson for reevaluation following the radiofrequency ablation.  Employee stated she had received 99% pain relief.
  The doctor assessed Employee with a pronounced clinical benefit from the radiofrequency ablation.  He recommended a continuance of Zanaflex, a prescription of EMLA cream and Tegaderm patches to apply to tender areas of the proximal coccyx, and massage therapy.  As Employee had significantly improved, he recommended follow-up on only an as-needed basis.

112. On October 8, 15, and 22, 2002, Employee underwent massage therapy at Seward Acupuncture & Massage Therapy Center.

113. On October 23, 2002, Employee returned to Dr. Stinson for reevaluation.
  Dr. Stinson assessed employee with continuing well-localized sacrococcygeal pain, for which he recommended Employee once again attempt wearing a sacroiliac stabilization belt.
  The doctor also performed a left SI joint injection on that date, after which he fit Employee with the SI stabilization belt.  The doctor told Employee to wear the belt every day for three to six months.

114. On December 5, 2002, Dr. Stinson reevaluated Employee.  Employee stated she had been unable to tolerate wearing the SI joint belt because it irritated her skin.
  Employee stated she had redeveloped low left sacral coccygeal discomfort, and she complained of midline tenderness in the region of her previous lumbar incision.
  The doctor discussed treatment options, including an injection or pulse radial frequency ablation at the symptomatic point.
  The Employee strongly wished to proceed with a pulsed radiofrequency treatment, primarily at the S4 and S5 nerve roots.

115. On December 17, 2002, Dr. Stinson administered a pulsed radiofrequency ablation of the S4 and S5 nerve roots and an injection of lumbar incisional neuroma.

116. On January 6
 and February 17, 2003,
 Employee returned to Dr. Stinson, complaining of persistent coccydynia and primarily left sided sacral pain.  She reported the lumbar incisional pain she was having was alleviated by the radiofrequency ablation performed on December 17, 2002.  Dr. Stinson stated he had “exhausted all injection therapy techniques with her symptoms still persisting,” but he proposed sacral stimulation with the insertion of electrodes.
  Dr. Stinson discussed scheduling an appointment with Karen Rey for this purpose.

117. On April 1, 2003, Dr. Stinson attempted retrograde placement of sacral spinal cord simulator and dural puncture with drawn autologous blood for an epidural blood patch.
  Dr. Stinson terminated the placement of the spinal cord stimulator “due to the inability to access any appreciable space in the epidural region.  It was most significant for marked scar tissue and fibrosis throughout the epidural region.”

118. On April 14, 2003, Dr. Stinson administered a caudal epidural steroid injection for “left sacral neuropathic pain that is presently incapacitating.

119. On April 15, 2003, an MRI was conducted at Alaska Open Imaging, upon referral from Dr. Stinson.
  Among other things, Robert Bridges, M.D., read the MRI as showing: (1) probable small sequestered disc fragment 8x4.8 mm in width lying just behind the superior portion of the body of L5 just to the left of midline; (2) probable annular tear far left lateral aspect of the annulus at L3-4; (3) mild to moderate canal stenosis at L2-3 secondary to disc disease and subluxation; (4) subluxation of L2 and 3 of approximately 3 mm, which appears to be accompanied by moderate to severe degenerative facet changes at L2-3; (5) mild to moderate 4 mm disc protrusion in the left intraforaminal area at L2-3; (6) minimal annular bulge at L3-4; (7) desiccation changes, moderate all levels; (8) postoperative changes of laminectomies at L4 and L5 with solid fusions of L3-4, L4-5, and L5-S1 facets; and (9) no significant granulation tissue.  In an Addendum comparing this study to the MRI taken 08/31/2001, Dr. Bridges noted:  (1) interval development of a small sequestered disc fragment at L5; (2) no change in the annular tear; (3) stable degree of central canal stenosis at L2-3; and (4) continued advanced degenerative facet changes at L2-3.

120. On April 16, 2003, Dr. Stinson reevaluated Employee.
  Employee stated her pain was 9/10 and that she “could not  . . . sit or lie down with any kind of comfort.”  Dr. Stinson noted Employee “believes she cannot tolerate any pain medication.”  Dr. Stinson discussed performing a left L5-S1 transforaminal epidural steroid injection.

121. On April 17, 2003, Dr. Stinson administered a left L3-4 transforaminal epidural steroid injection and a left gluteal and left hamstring trigger point injection.

122. On April 29, 2003, Dr. Stinson, during a Pre-Op History and Physical examination, referred Employee to Robert Trombley, Ph.D., a pain psychologist, “for further evaluation of her depression with features of post-traumatic stress disorder.”  Dr. Stinson believed “[B]iofeedback and autonomic regulation should significantly help her neuropathic pain symptomatology.”
  Dr. Stinson on that date administered a left SI joint injection, left sacral and sacrococcygeal injection, and lumbar incisional neuroma injection.

123. On May 15, 2003, Dr. Stinson administered another left SI joint injection, left sacral injection of point maximal tenderness for neuralgia symptoms, and a lumbar incisional neuroma injection.

124. On June 10, 2003, Dr. Stinson administered an additional left SI joint injection, left sacral border injections, and sacrococcygeal joint injection.

125. On June 27, 2003, Dr. Peterson evaluated Employee and reviewed her MRI for continued left sacral pain to her coccyx.
  Dr. Peterson opined “I would expect that if L2-3 stenosis were the etiology of her symptoms she should have bilateral leg symptoms or at least proximal anterior thigh hyperesthesia, weakness, more objective findings. Her pain complaints sound neuropathic and most of her focus is in the sacral region and not lumbar.”

126. On July 21, 2003, Dr. Stinson advised Employee “she had maximized her steroid medication for at least six months.”
  Employee was upset and indicated it was “the only modality where she gets relief for 1-2 weeks at a time.”  Employee stated she could not sit properly due to pain.  Dr. Stinson discussed possible intrathecal pump placement and gave Employee a video to review in considering this treatment.

127. On October 14, 2003, Dr. Stinson examined Employee.
  His assessments were postlaminectomy syndrome, left sacral neuralgia, remnant coccydynia, and arachnoiditis.  Dr. Stinson performed epidural steroid injections and trigger point injections in the sacral and sacrococcygeal areas as well as the lumbar incisional area.

128. On December 1, 2003, Dr. Joella Beard administered another electrodiagnostic study.  Dr. Beard found no radiculopathy.
  Dr. Beard noted Employee’s “main complaints are quite variable but in particular she seems to have the most problem at the area with the resected coccyx.  I don’t know if a caudal block would be helpful or if it has been tried in the past.”
 

129. On December 22, 2003, Employee returned to Dr. Stinson with “absolute insistence” for further steroid injections.
  Dr. Stinson administered a left sacroiliac joint injection and sacrococcygeal injection on December 23, 2003.

130. On December 24, 2003, Employee underwent a CT of her pelvis at Providence.
  Leonard Sisk, M.D., read the CT as indicative of degenerative joint disease of the sacroiliac joints and hips, as well as diverticulitis of the colon.
  

131. On February 9, 2004, Employee reported to Dr. Stinson she had sustained a fall on her stairway after feeling her right leg “buckle.”
 Employee complained of more discomfort in her right gluteal hip and lower extremity.  She complained of more discomfort in the right gluteal hip and lower extremity than what she had previously.  Dr. Stinson diagnosed Employee with postlaminotomy syndrome, arachnoiditis, osteoarthritis of the left SI joint region, and persistent hyperesthesia overlying the posterior pelvic girdle area, complicated by the recent fall and right-sided symptomatology not previously present.  

132. On April 10, 2004, Employee presented to the Providence Seward Medical Center (PSMC) emergency room (ER).
  Tanja Britton, M.D., examined Employee for her complaints of left-sided neck pain.  Employee stated it “started suddenly yesterday while she was driving her car and turned her head to look over her shoulder,”
 and her neck had been hurting since that time.  Employee rated her pain at 6/10, worse with movement.  She denied any radiating pain into her arms or associated weakness, numbness, or paresthesias.  Dr. Britton diagnosed cervical/trapezius strain and prescribed use of a cervical collar, application of ice and/or heat, massage, and the pain medication Bextra.

133. On May 5, 2004, Dr. Stinson evaluated Employee for her ongoing left lumbosacral symptoms.  Dr. Stinson noted Employee was wearing “a soft cervical collar for increasing cervicalgia as a result of a fall several weeks ago” when her right leg ‘buckled.’”
  On physical examination, Dr. Stinson noted the cervical range of motion was significantly reduced, primarily with lateral rotation.  Provocative facetal testing was positive on the left side at the C3-4 and C4-5 levels with paraspinal muscle spasm noted, extending out towards the left shoulder region.  Dr. Stinson diagnosed left C3-4 and C4-5 facet arthropathy with myofascial symptoms.  Dr. Stinson stated, “[T]he conditions relating to her fall are reasonably related to her job injury.  This is due to the reasons for the fall, which are ongoing radicular symptomatology secondary to post laminectomy syndrome and arachnoiditis.  I believe that with proper treatment we will be able to rehabilitate her cervicalgia and left shoulder symptomatology.”  Dr. Stinson opined treatment of Employee’s C3-4, C4-5 facet arthropathy with steroid injections would be beneficial.

134. On May 6, 2004, Dr. Stinson performed Left C3-4, C4-5 inferior facetal joint injections.

135. On June 28, 2004, Wayne Downs, M.D., of Neurological Consultants Alaska evaluated Employee. 
  Employee had consulted with Dr. Downs about four years prior for cognitive impairment.  Employee reported to Dr. Downs she had experienced back and lower extremity problems ever since a work-related injury about 10 years prior while she was working as a cook at Spring Creek and was assaulted by one of the inmates.
  Dr. Downs noted “mild reflex asymmetry in the biceps” that looked to be new.  Dr. Downs recommended an MRI in reference to Employee’s cervical spine, and he would see “if there is anything I might think would be of benefit that has not been tried.
   

136. On June 29, 2004, an MRI of Employee’s cervical spine was read by John McCormick, M.D., as indicating moderate central spinal stenosis at C4-C5 and mild central stenosis at C3-4 and C5-6.
  In addition, the doctor found moderate right C5-6 foraminal stenosis and no other significant foraminal stenosis.  He also noted small midline protrusions at C3-4 and C6-7, no large protrusions or frank extruded disk fragments.  In addition, the doctor found reversal of the cervical lordosis, disk space narrowing with marginal osteophyte formation also present at C4-5 and C5-6.  

137. On July 19, 2004, in follow-up, Dr. Downs assessed Employee’s cervical pain as being appropriately handled by Dr. Stinson.
  The doctor noted Employee’s cervical spinal stenosis might warrant an evaluation by a neurosurgeon, for which Employee already had an appointment.

138. On July 26, 2004, Timothy Cohen, M.D., of Anchorage Neurosurgical, examined Employee in consultation.
  Dr. Cohen examined Employee and assessed her as having complaints of leg and back pain, but without a recent MRI, he did not make further definite findings.  Dr. Cohen recommended Employee undergo an MRI and physical therapy and return to him in two months.
  Employee undertook physical therapy at Providence Seward Medical Center through August and September 2004.

139. On September 20, 2004, an MRI of the lumbar spine was obtained at Providence Health System and read by Denise Farleigh, M.D.
  In addition to post-operative changes in the lower lumbosacral canal, Dr. Farleigh’s impressions were extensive degenerative changes at multiple levels, central canal stenosis at L2-3 with central disk protrusion and facet hypertrophy, which was slightly more pronounced than on the previous examination in 2001.
 

140. On October 7, 2004, Dr. Cohen discussed with Employee his assessment of her cervical pain.  Dr. Cohen recommended C3-4 anterior cervical discectomy and C5 corpectomy for decompression of her nerve roots and spinal canal and to assist with her severe neck pain, with a C3-C6 fusion, if she continues to have severe neck pain as well.  This is after reviewing her cervical spine MRI of June 29, 2004, which showed a C3-4, C4-5, and C5-6 disk herniations with resulting spinal stenosis.”
  Dr. Cohen also evaluated Employee’s lower back on October 7, 2004, stating, “Neurologically she remains stable.”  He further stated, “We have tentatively discussed lumbar decompression and fusion, and will do so further in November. … She is concerned about whether this is related to her on the job injury as a cook at the Spring Creek Correctional Facility when she suffered from an attempted rape.  I think it is reasonable given that she had a previous fusion.  She states she has had her back pain since the time of her rape, to assume that is a result of this, which would be an exacerbation of a preexisting condition, because she certainly has degenerative spine disease given her previous surgery and fusion.”

141. On November 18, 2009, Dr. Stinson administered a translaminar steroid injection to Employee’s cervical spine at C7-T1.
  The injection was given to treat her increasing cervicalgia, which was interfering with her activities of daily living.

142. On December 9, 2004, at the request of the employer, orthopedic surgeon Edward A. Grossenbacher, M.D., and neurosurgeon Thomas S. Dietrich, M.D., prepared a joint report of their EMEs.
  The doctors diagnosed: (1) history of multiple surgical procedures, lumbar spine, with fusion L4-S1 and multiple laminectomies at L5-S1 remote; (2) degenerative arthritis, lumbar spine multiple segmental with canal stenosis L3, verified objectively by MRI; (3) history of sacrococcygeal excision with persistent sacrococcygeal pain, chronic; (4) failed post-laminectomy syndrome; (5) multiple level degenerative disc disease and degenerative arthritis cervical spine verified objectively by MRI, chronic; (6) history of arachnoiditis from review of the medical records; and (7) depression, chronic.  The doctors opined the medical cause of these diagnoses was Employee’s remote history of multiple surgical procedures dating back to 1978.  They stated:  “The examiners cannot correlate any specific neurological deficit from the fall in February 2004 in reference to the cervical spine….. The examiners find no correlation of her lumbar stenosis or lumbar fusion to her injury history of 1994.”
  In addition, the doctors found Employees’ current complaints were not supported by objective findings, and they opined there was no evidence-based medical validity to support a temporary aggravation linked to the February 20, 2004 work incident.
  The doctors also found “because of the multiple invasive injection procedures without appreciable relief, we do not feel she is a candidate for this continued treatment.  There have been complications with treatment modalities such as dural tear, etc.”
  The doctors specifically did not recommend further surgical treatment.

143. On January 6, 2005, Dr. Grossenbacher authored an addendum to his December 2004 EIME report in response to additional questions from Harbor Adjustment Services.
  Dr. Grossenbacher opined that recommended surgeries to Employee’s lumbar and cervical spine could be considered “medically accepted” treatment options, but “any surgery is medically prognosticated to not relieve her symptoms and would carry considerable risks due to psychological and physical comorbidities.  However, the doctor recommended a referral to James Robinson, M.D., Ph.D., for a psychological evaluation prior to any surgical treatment.

144. On January 12, 2005, Employer controverted surgical procedures of any kind to Employee’s cervical and lumbar spine, and any additional lumbosacral and coccygeal injections, based on the December 9, 2004 and January 6, 2005 EME reports.

145. On January 12, 2005, Dr. Stinson reevaluated Employee’s recurrent cervicalgia with radiation into her left shoulder and Employee’s continued chronic lower lumbar and lumbosacral pain with radiation to her left lower extremity.
  Dr. Stinson assessed post laminotomy syndrome and persistent left lower extremity radicular symptomatology, with
 MRI evidence of arachnoiditis, and multilevel cervical degenerative disk disease and spondylosis with central spinal canal stenosis.  Dr. Stinson recommended a cervical steroid injection and a repeat injection for Employee’s lumbar incisional neuroma.  Dr. Stinson administered these injections on January 13, 2005.

146. On May 16, 2005, Rafael Prieto, M.D., of Advanced Sports Medicine & Rehabilitation, examined Employee upon referral from Dr. Stinson.  Employee relayed a very long history of back pain “presumed secondary to degenerative disk disease at multiple levels, postlaminectomy syndrome, chronic left sacroiliitis, and a lumbar incisional neuroma.”
 Employee relayed she had had these problems for many years and had undergone various surgical procedures.  Employee stated she had had multiple falls.  She also attributed “much of her pain to an attack which occurred while she was employed as a cook at a jail.”
  After examination of Employee, Dr. Prieto assessed Employee with “chronic back pain probably due to multiple factors to include not only known postlaminectomy syndrome and multilevel spondylosis … but also “left sacroiliac joint pain syndrome.”
  Dr. Prieto recommended not changing any specific aspect of Employee’s pain regimen, although he did suggest a trigger point injection of the connective tissue at the sacroiliac ligament and gluteal muscle.  Dr. Prieto administered the recommended trigger point injection following examination on that date.  Employee was to return in four to six weeks for a repeat injection.

147. On June 24, 2005, an MRI of Employee’s cervical spine was done at the request of Dr. Cohen.
  The MRI showed:  1) moderate degenerative disk disease at C4-C5 and C5-C6, with mild degenerative disk disease at the remaining cervical levels; moderate circumferential disk bulges and mild, posterior ligament hypertrophy resulting in mild canal stenosis from C3-C4 through C5-C6; 3) mild disk bulges and posterior ligament hypertrophy at C2-C3 and C6-C7, resulting in mild canal stenosis; 4) C7-T1 appeared normal; and 5) no significant foraminal stenosis at any level.  The impression was moderate canal stenosis at C3-C4 through C5-C6, and mild stenosis at C2-C3 and C6-C7.
 

148. On July 7, 2005, an x-ray of the cervical spine was performed, which showed the cervical spine was relatively straight on neutral view with moderate changes of degenerative disk disease at C5-6 and C6-7, and minimal retrolisthesis of C5 on C6 and C6 on C7.
  There were no significant changes of alignment on flexion or extension views and no definite evidence of ligamentous instability.  In addition, there was an old healed C7 clay shoveler’s fracture.  The prevertebral soft issues were within normal limits.

149. On November 1, 2005, Eric Claude Leuthardt, M.D., of the University of Washington Academic Medical Center Neurosurgery Department, evaluated Employee for her neck and back pain.
  Employee relayed her “long and complex history involving her neck and back,” including her multiple lumbar procedures through the 1970s and 1980s.  Employee attributed her current symptoms to an incident “approximately 11 years prior when she was attacked while working as a jail cook.”  Employee stated that since that time she had substantial low back pain and for which she had gone through “numerous regimens of multiple injections, physical therapy, and conservative treatments.” Employee stated the attempt to implant a spinal cord stimulator in April 2003 had left her with “worsened low back and left greater than right leg pain” that was “burning in nature.”  Employee stated she has “occasional falls associated with her leg pain” and that in February 2003 she had fallen and hit her neck.  Since that time, she had had significant neck pain that radiated “to her left more than her right arm.”  Dr. Leuthardt’s impression was that Employee was “a woman with multiple levels of spinal spondylosis as well as evidence of a previous arachnoiditis.”  The doctor opined there was not “any surgery which can address the complex pain issues that she is having….”  He recommended physical therapy, physiatry, pain management at a pain clinic to optimize her medication regimen “as well as counseling to help her tolerate and deal with her current pain issues.”  Dr. Leuthardt wrote a referral for physical therapy and physiatry, dated November 29, 2005.
 

150. On May 15, 2006, Employee returned to Dr. Stinson for reevaluation.  She had recently completed an evaluation at the University of Washington Department of Neurosurgery, where she had been advised there was no surgical option that would help her.
  The doctors at University of Washington had recommended “optimizing nonoperative management at a pain clinic and with a physiatrist.”  Employee had hoped to “undergo some trigger-point type injections that she has had in the past.”  Dr. Stinson recommended deferring further injections until Employee had been evaluated by Dr. Prieto, a physiatrist, “to see if he has any other treatment options that may be more beneficial on a longer-term basis.”  Employee “reluctantly” agreed to this treatment plan.

151. On June 28, 2006, Employee again presented to Dr. Prieto of Advanced Sports Medicine and Rehabilitation, requesting an additional trigger point injection.
  Employee had obtained two to three weeks of relief from the prior injection, and she had “been able to ambulate and do household chores without typical amounts of pain.”  Dr. Prieto administered multiple trigger point injections over the posterior-superior iliac spine region.

152. On July 25, 2006, Employee returned to Dr. Stinson for reevaluation. 
  She had undergone some trigger point injections by Dr. Prieto about one month prior in the left sacral and sacrococcygeal area, whose effectiveness had only lasted two to three weeks.  Employee strongly wished to undergo additional injection therapy “both in the mid lumbar and left sacral region as she cannot sit or lie on those areas.”

153. On July 26, 2006, Dr. Stinson administered trigger point injections in Employee’s lumbar, paraspinal, left gluteal and left sacroccygeal musculature, and bilateral sacroiliac joint injections under fluoroscopic guidance.
  The doctor indicated the procedure was necessitated by Employee’s “recurrent lumbar bilateral sacroiliac and left sacral and sacroccygeal pain that is interfering with her activities of daily living.”  Employee stated it was difficult for her to walk and could not sit on the left side and increasingly “cannot sit on the right side as well.”  In the past, she had received “2-6 weeks of relief with the injection therapy, which she considers quite important.”

154. On September 27, 2006, Employee returned to Dr. Stinson for a left sacroiliac joint injection and three separate trigger point injections into gluteal muscle groups, primarily on the left side.
  The doctor indicated Employee had had seven weeks of relief with the previous procedure.  However, Employee stated “prolonged sitting, as well as rough travel in a motor vehicle due to extensive construction in the area that she lives, has led to a recurrence of her usual left sacroiliac and sacral symptomatology.”
  

155. On December 23, 2006, Dr. Stinson administered a left sacroiliac joint injection and a left gluteal and lateral sacral trigger point injection.
  The doctor indicated Employee had returned for the first time in several weeks with recurrent symptoms, and injection was the only modality that afforded Employee any kind of significant relief.  It had been almost three months since her last procedure.  The doctor informed the Employee that although this was the only modality that afforded relief and she strongly wished to have it done on a more regular basis, he was “concerned about exposure to steroids and we need to lengthen out the time between procedures as much as possible.”

156. On February 28, 2007, Dr. Stinson administered a left SI joint injection and five separate trigger point injections in different muscle groups, including the presacral gluteal and hamstring musculature.
  Employee stated she received four to six weeks relief at a time with the injection therapy, and it was the only treatment modality that gave her any relief for any length of time.  Employee stated she understood Dr. Stinson did not wish to give these injections any more frequently than every two to three months.

157. On April 19, 2007, at the request of Julie Prigge, M.D., a cervical spine MRI was performed on Employee.
  The impression was of moderate to severe central canal stenosis and spinal cord compression at the C3-4 through C6-7 levels.  The compression was due to a combination of disc disease and osteophyte spur formation.  In addition, there was a focal expansile change of the left lamina of C3, which might reflect an expansile lesion of uncertain etiology.  Correlation with a PET bone scan or a SPECT scan was recommended if warranted by clinical concern.  There was mild right neural foraminal encroachment at C4-5 and possible chronic compression fractures of the endplates of C3-C5.
  An addendum report comparing the April 19, 2007 MRI study with the June 24, 2005 MRI study was issued on May 4, 2007.
  The impression was there was progressive degenerative hypertrophy of the left facet joint area at C3-4, and to a lesser extent at C4-5, when compared to the previous MRI of June 24, 2005.  The central canal stenosis was similar to the previous MRI, and the degree of foraminal disease remained stable.

158. Also on April 19, 2007, at the request of Dr. Prigge, an MRI of the brain was performed.
  The impression was a possible old small right cerebellar infarct, mild to moderate atrophy, and subtle white matter signal changes, probably age-related.

159. On June 6, 2007, and August 15, 2007, Dr. Stinson administered steroid injections for Employee’s ongoing lumbar left SI joint and left sacral and gluteal pain.

160. On September 18, 2007, Ronald G. Early, Ph.D., M.D., who is  board certified in psychiatry and neurology, examined Employee in an SIME.
  Dr. Early reviewed 675 pages of medical records that spanned approximately 20 years in preparation for the evaluation.  During the examination, Employee reported to Dr. Early she had been assaulted by an inmate at a prison where she was working in the food section.  Employee stated she had fought him off and she denied being frightened, but rather was “angry at him and would liked to have assaulted him if she had her ‘boots on’ indicating that she was more angry than anything.”  Dr. Early opined Employee was verbose and sometimes circumstantial and detailed in her explanations, but her description of the past 13 year history was accurate, and she could provide details when asked.  He also opined Employee was straight forward, did not exhibit unusual pain behavior, and there was no indication of thought disorder, disorientation or confusion.  Dr. Early’s diagnoses of Employee in Axis I included Depressive Disorder not otherwise specified (NOS) and Pain Disorder associated with psychological factors (Depression) and General Medical Condition (lumbar and cervical injuries), “causally related to the industrial injury on a more probable than not basis, in remission.”  In Axis III, Dr. Early found “lumbar spine injuries and cervical spine injuries as described above.”  In Axis IV, Dr. Early’s diagnoses were “psychosocial stressors related to the sexual assault, limited to those changes in her lifestyle which limit her recreation, social involvement and freedom of movement which affects her daily life” and “psychosocial stressors unrelated to the industrial injury,” which included separation from her husband (who was deceased) and living with an adult son.  On Axis V, Dr. Early assessed Employee as functioning at a rating of 70.  Dr. Early opined “the consequences of the assault, which aggravated the lumbar spine injuries, resulted in the diagnoses as described above.”  Dr. Early recommended no specific additional treatment other than monitoring her mental health condition. 

161. On September 19, 2007, Thomas L. Gritzka, M.D., a board certified orthopedic surgeon, examined Employee in an SIME.
  Employee related to Dr. Gritzka that on February 20, 1994, she had been assaulted by an inmate.  Employee also stated that during the subsequent years of treatment, she also “had a lot of falls.”  Dr. Gritzka noted it was difficult to obtain a history from Employee, and she appeared to have some delusions or severe misconceptions about the relationship of some of her physical findings to her chronic back problem, such as thinking a lipoma on her thigh was arachnoiditis.  Dr. Gritzka also opined Employee exhibited significant pain behavior during the evaluation and evidence of cognitive dysfunction or mild senile dementia.  After review of the records and examination, Dr. Gritzka diagnosed Employee with several physical and psychological conditions that were “more probably than not aggravated by the injury of 02/20/1994.”  Dr. Gritzka diagnosed Employee as follows:  1) status post multiple surgical procedures prior to the February 20, 1994 work injury; 2) chronic lumbosacral sprain superimposed on prior post surgical status and multilevel lumbar degenerative spondylosis; 3) chronic cervical sprain superimposed on prior degenerative cervical spondylosis and multilevel cervical spinal stenosis, C3 through C7; and 4) psychological factors affecting physical condition, including depression by history, chronic pain syndrome, and probable mild to mildly moderate senile dementia.  Dr. Gritzka maintained Employee’s prior low back injuries were aggravated by the work injury.  He opined it was reasonable that Employee could have had a giving away of her lower extremity causing her to fall on her steps, causing the neck injury, but her version of this event needed to be viewed in light of her cognitive dysfunction.  Dr. Gritzka stated he did not “think that there is any further medical treatment or any diagnostic testing that would be of benefit to Ms. Silva’s orthopedic or neurological conditions.”  He further stated he did not think “continued injection therapy in response to the examinee’s subjective complaints is likely to provide any long term relief or benefit.”
  Dr. Gritzka opined the work injury aggravated Employee’s failed low back surgery syndrome, and the development of the chronic pain syndrome was the result of the interplay between the aggravation of her failed low back surgery syndrome and her psychological status.  He further opined Employee’s cognitive dysfunction made her pain more difficult to treat.  Dr. Gritzka maintained Employee had reached medical stability on January 10, 2005, and it is highly unlikely anything done for her after January 10, 2005 would provide any significant benefit, nor was her medical treatment from January 10, 2005 forward reasonable and necessary for her injuries.  He opined her inability to tolerate sitting activities was not because of the work injury, and on an objective basis she was able to tolerate sedentary activities.  Finally, Dr. Gritzka attributed 50% of Employee’s disability is due to her preexisting low back injuries and surgeries, and 50% is because of her chronic pain syndrome, probable centralization of pain, and mild moderate severe cognitive dysfunction.

162. On October 26, 2007, Dr. Gritzka opined the additional records including Dr. Stinson’s medical records from February 28, 2007 and August 15, 2007 and letters concerning Employee’s ability to travel alone did not alter his opinions as expressed in his September 19, 2007 SIME report.

163. On October 5, 2007, neurosurgeon Jay Rosenbaum, M.D., evaluated Employee in an SIME.  Employee told Dr. Rosenbaum she had been employed as a cook when on February 20, 1994, there was an altercation with an attempted rape and she developed, “by her recollection, the onset of low back and left buttock pain. 
  This began at the time of the incident but the symptoms progressed.” After review of the records and examination of Employee, Dr. Rosenbaum found “she had a history in the past of chronic back difficulties and the injury then exacerbated her symptoms.”  Dr. Rosenbaum concluded “the event of 2/20/94 was consistent with a strain with longstanding neurologic alterations and her symptoms are related to her pre-existing lumbar pathology … as well as her progressive degenerative changes over time and her functional overlay.”  As to treatment, Dr. Rosenbaum opined “There are no therapeutic measures that will likely be beneficial to this individual with regards to her degenerative arthritis or her prior history of multiple surgical procedures referable to her diagnosis of a cervical and lumbar strain from the industrial injury of 02/20/94.”  Dr. Rosenbaum opined a “stretching exercise program, judicious use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory agents, and activity within her physical capacities on a subjective basis are appropriate.”
  He also opined there was no treatment since January 10, 2005 that was directed to Employee’s work injuries.  Dr. Rosenbaum recommended Employee be followed from a neurologic standpoint to be certain she did not develop spinal cord compression in the cervical spine which would necessitate intervention nor further diagnostic studies, but this would not be related to her work injury.  Finally, he opined Employee had no restrictions on her ability to work caused by her work injury, but she was limited to sedentary work activity because of her age, degenerative arthritis of the spine and prior surgeries.

164. On September 12, 2008, Dr. Early prepared an Addendum Report after review of the SIME reports of Drs. Rosenbaum and Gritzka.
  Dr. Early noted the central question was whether or not she ever returned to a level of functioning which existed before the work injury, and opined she obviously had not done so.  He also noted physicians have commented on the lack of objective evidence to support worsening of the pre-existing back condition while acknowledging the increase in pain complaints which has resulted in the decreased functional capacity.  Dr. Early maintained when person has a history of serious spinal injury and extensive treatment, the person is vulnerable to extension of the trauma with any additional trauma, and even minor trauma can cause a permanent aggravation.  Dr. Early also maintained the aggravation can be soft tissue injury, which is difficult to prove by current tests, so that objective evidence is often unavailable.  He further opined the increased pain is consistent with the injury and can be a permanent worsening without objective evidence.  Dr. Early concluded the continuing pain complaints and disability are a consequence of the worsening of the pre-existing back condition.  He opined the work injury resulted in additional pain and impairment which would not have occurred at the time it did, in the way it did, and to the degree it did, but for the work injury.  Dr. Early opined “[T]he combination of the pre-existing back condition and the February 20, 1994 injury-related pain disorder represent the basis of her disability with approximate equal distribution by each.”  Dr. Early recommended Employee have “permanent medical treatment on a monthly to quarterly basis for management of medication for the injury related conditions and for monitoring of her status.”  He also recommended ongoing treatment with antidepressant medication to assist in preventing worsening of depression and to help her cope with pain. 

165. Dr. Early is credible,
 based on his expertise as a board certified psychiatrist and neurologist, and thorough and well-reasoned reports.

166. On March 3, 2009, Dr. Stinson opined Employee’s work injury is a substantial factor in causing her need for medical treatment, and the 1994 work injury, as well as the surgery for the work injury, aggravated, accelerated, or combined with a pre-existing condition to cause her symptoms.
  In addition, this aggravation was permanent.
  In his July 30, 2009 deposition, Dr. Stinson clarified he meant by “surgery for the work injury,” the procedures that were done after the work injury.

167. On July 30, 2009, Dr. Stinson testified by deposition.
  He is board certified in anesthesia and pain management, and has practiced pain management in Alaska since the year 2000.  Employee has treated since 2001 with Dr. Stinson for intractable pain, predominantly in the left gluteal and sacral regions.  Dr. Stinson has either “injected and/or done other procedures on almost every structure from the lower lumbar region at the SI joint to the coccyx to around the sacrum, some of the ligamentous structures, some of the nerve structures that are in the textbooks and recommended by other leaders in the pain field.”  Dr. Stinson treated Employee three months prior to the time of the deposition, and she was miserable and unable to tolerate sitting.  Dr. Stinson administered a standard set of injections that help Employee for two to three weeks.  Although he does not like doing things that last only two to three weeks, these injections assist her to function, and if she has a function coming up where she has to tolerate sitting, he gives her an injection.  Dr. Stinson testified any treatments that would provide ongoing benefit have been exhausted, and the injections he is giving are rescue-type injections to give temporary relief for a special event or if the pain is intolerable.  Dr. Stinson testified he performed the injections to keep her going when the pain is really intolerable, to improve her quality of life and assist her in her daily activities.  He testified Employee understood he was not going to do many injections, but the injections do provide relief.  Dr. Stinson testified the injection therapy he administered to Employee was curative until after April 2008, at which time it became palliative.  Dr. Stinson testified his treatments for Employee have been for the work related injury, based on his understanding Employee was quite functional and working as a cook and performing strenuous physical activities without difficulty before the work injury.

168. Dr. Stinson testified he remembered the Employee reported she had fallen on her steps, hitting her head and neck, which caused ongoing pain, and she had not had any neck problems prior to that.  He testified he deferred treatment of the neck to Dr. Cohen.

169. Dr. Stinson testified no further attempts to place a spinal cord stimulator would be of benefit, as there is no space because of the thick scar tissue throughout the entire lower lumbosacral spine.  Dr. Stinson testified the disc fragment noted on the April 14, 2003 lumbar MRI, as well as the annular tear, could cause pain.  He explained arachnoiditis occurs when there is enough inflammation or scarring of the nerve roots that they clump together and become sticky, and basically scar together.  This puts traction on the nerves and is very difficult to treat.  He testified a lot of people with arachnoiditis have chronic pain.  Dr. Stinson testified there are many causes of arachnoiditis, and in Employee’s case, he did not know what caused it.  

170. Dr. Stinson is credible,
 based on his board certification in anesthesiology and pain management, as well as his thorough knowledge of Employee and her low back condition based on several years of treating her.

171. Employee testified she worked as a dietary manager at Employer’s.  She testified when the assault occurred, she attempted to activate the “man down” button, which is the method to call for help, but no one came.  She testified the inmate assaulting her was hanging on her neck and attempting to tear her clothes off, while she kicked and fought.  Eventually, the attacker either gave up or she was successful in getting him to stop his assault.  She testified after the work injury, her shoulders, neck and back were all painful.  Employee testified after the work injury, she had a lot of leg problems and as a result she fell a lot.  She testified her leg weakness became worse after Dr. Stinson attempted the placement of the spinal cord stimulator in April.  Employee testified about a year later there was one instance when her right leg gave way, and she fell and hit her neck on her rock porch.  She testified the pain interferes with her ability to sleep, and she can only lie on her right side, not her left side or back.  She also testified she can only sit for a limited period of time because of the pain.  Employee testified her neck is also painful, and she has not been able to drive.  She testified she learned self-hypnosis and thought projection or imagery to treat her pain.  Employee testified she also receives injections administered by Dr. Stinson once in awhile, the last one she thought was in January 2009.  She testified this last injection reduced the pain for only a short time –one to two weeks, reducing her pain from 5-8/10 to 3/10, allowing her to function better and do more daily activities. 

172. Employee is credible,
 based on her straightforward demeanor and frank and consistent answers to questions during her testimony.  She was quite talkative, but this did not detract from her credibility.
173. Employee’s attorney filed his Affidavit of Attorney’s Fees and Costs on August 13, 2009, and his Amended Affidavit of Attorney’s Fees and Costs on August 20, 2009.  There were 21.2 attorney hours at $300.00 per hour, and 21.5 attorney hours at $350.00 per hour, for a total of $13,885.00.  Paralegal hours were 35.5 at $125.00 per hour, totaling $4,437.50.  Costs included postage, copying, medical records, and deposition costs, totaling $1,150.58.  Thus, the total of attorney’s fees and costs was $19,473.96.

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.010.  Coverage.  

Compensation is payable under this chapter in respect of disability or death of an employee.

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board's “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”
  “An employee's preexisting condition will not” relieve an employer from liability in a proper case.
  A finding disability would not have occurred “but for” employment may be supported not only by a doctor’s testimony, but inferentially from the fact that an injured worker had been able to continue working despite pain prior to the subject employment but required surgery after that employment.  A finding reasonable persons would find employment was a cause of the employee’s disability and impose liability is, “as are all subjective determinations, the most difficult to support.”  However, there is also no reason to suppose Board members who so find are either irrational or arbitrary.  That “some reasonable persons may disagree with a subjective conclusion does not necessarily make that conclusion unreasonable.”

“Thus, for an employee to establish an aggravation claim under workers' compensation law, the employment need only have been ‘a substantial factor in bringing about the disability.’  Hester
 suggests that when a job worsens an employee’s symptoms such that she can no longer perform her job functions, that constitutes an ‘aggravation’ -- even when the job does not actually worsen the underlying condition.”

AS 23.30.095(a) provided, in part, at the time of Employee’s injury:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee.  However, if the condition requiring treatment, apparatus or medicine is a latent one, the two-year period runs from the time the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee’s disability and its relationship to the employment and after disablement.  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require….

Under the Act, an employer shall furnish an employee injured at work any medical treatment “which the nature of the injury or process of recovery requires” within the first two years of the injury.  The medical treatment must be “reasonable and necessitated” by the work-related injury.  Thus, when the Board reviews an injured employee's claim for medical treatment made within two years of an injury that is indisputably work-related, “its review is limited to whether the treatment sought is reasonable and necessary.”
  When the Board reviews a claim for continued treatment beyond two years from the date of injury, it has the discretion to authorize indicated medical treatment as the process of recovery may require.
  The Board, based on this discretion, is not limited to reviewing the reasonableness and necessity of a particular treatment requested, but has some latitude to choose among reasonable alternatives.
  A claim for medical treatment is to be reviewed according to the date the treatment was sought and the claim was filed with the Board.

In Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held that “the process of recovery” language in AS 23.30.095(a) “does not preclude an award for purely palliative care where the evidence establishes such care promotes the employee’s recovery from individual attacks caused by a chronic condition.”
  In Carter, the employee suffered from degenerative disc disease and requested compensation for hot tub treatments and as-needed chiropractic care.
  The employee presented the testimony of himself, his wife, and two chiropractors who had treated him that the treatments reduced his pain.
  The employer relied on the testimony of Dr. James, who had examined the employee for an hour at the employer’s request, and who testified the continued chiropractic care was not medically indicated, recommending instead a regular exercise program and a hot shower.
  The Board found there was no evidence the chiropractic care could help the employee recover from his chronic condition, and therefore denied the request for both, pursuant to AS 23.30.095(a).
  The Alaska Supreme Court found the presumption of compensability pursuant to AS 23.30.120(a) applies to any claim for compensation under the Act, and therefore: 

an injured employee may raise the presumption that a claim for continuing treatment or care comes within the provisions of AS 23.30.095(a), and that in the absence of substantial treatment to the contrary this presumption will satisfy the employee’s burden of proof as to whether continued treatment or care is medically indicated.
  

The Board held AS 23.30.095(a) prohibited requiring the employer to pay for care that was purely “palliative, not necessary to the process of recovery,” but the Alaska Supreme Court refused to interpret the “process of recovery” language so narrowly.
  

Wilson v. Erickson, 477 P.2d 1988 (Alaska 1970) (A preexisting disease or infirmity does not disqualify a claim under the work-connection requirement if the employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the disease or infirmity to produce the death or disability from which compensation is sought.)

Beauchamp v. Employers Liab. Assurance Corp., 477 P.2d 993 (Alaska 1970) (A claimant is entitled to compensation if any of the incidents of his employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with his disease or infirmity to produce disability.)

Kessick v. Alyeska Pipeline Service Co., 617 P.2d 755, 758 (Alaska 1980) (The lack of objective signs of an injury in and of itself does not preclude the existence of an injury, as there are many types of injuries which are not readily disclosed by objective tests.)

Burgess Constr. Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312 (Alaska 1981) (The question of whether employment aggravated or accelerated a preexisting disease or injury is one of fact to be determined by the board.)

Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528 (Alaska 1987) (To prove an aggravation or exacerbation of a preexisting condition, the claimant need only prove that “but for” the subsequent trauma the claimant would not have suffered disability at this time, or in this way, or to this degree.  In other words, to satisfy the “but for” test, the claimant need only prove, as indicated above, that the aggravation, acceleration or combination was a substantial factor in the resulting disability.)
Hester v. State, Public Employees’ Retirement Board, 817 P.2d 472, 476 (Alaska 1991) (For the purpose of determining whether an underlying disease has been aggravated by a work injury, there is not a distinction between worsening of the underlying disease process and worsening of the symptoms.)

Medical benefits including continuing care are covered by the AS 23.30.120(a) presumption of compensability.
  Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under subsection 95(a).
  

AS 23.30.120.  Presumptions.  

(a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; . . . .

“The text of AS 23.30.120(a) (1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute.”
  Therefore, an injured worker is afforded a presumption all the benefits he seeks are compensable.
  The presumption applies to claims for continuing medical benefits.
  An employee is entitled to the presumption of compensability as to each evidentiary question.
  The presumption applies to claims for medical benefits as these come within the meaning of “compensation” in the Act.
  “The presumption of compensability in AS 23.30.120(a) applies when an employer controverts continuing entitlement to temporary benefits.  To overcome this presumption, the employer must introduce ‘substantial evidence’ to the contrary.”

“Under Alaska law, a disability arising after a non-work-related injury is still compensable if an earlier work-related injury substantially contributed to the employee's disability.
  Thus the fact an employee has suffered a non-work-related injury does not, standing alone, rebut the presumption of compensability.

The presumption’s application involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a “preliminary link” between the disability or need for medical care and his employment.  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  The employee need only adduce “some,” “minimal” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between the disability and employment
  or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.
  The witnesses’ credibility is of no concern in this first step.

 Once the preliminary link is established, the employer has the burden to overcome the raised presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence the injury is not work related.
  There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: 

(1) Produce substantial evidence providing an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or 

(2)  Directly eliminate any reasonable possibility the employment was a factor in the disability.
  

“Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  “It has always been possible to rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that, in his or her opinion, the claimant’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.”
  If medical experts rule out work-related causes for the injury, then an alternative explanation is not required.
  The employer’s evidence is viewed in isolation, without regard to any evidence presented by the employee.
  Therefore, credibility questions and the weight to give the employer’s evidence is deferred until after it is decided if the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption the employee’s injury entitles him to compensation benefits.

If the employer produces substantial evidence the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts are probably true.
  Consistent with AS 23.30.120(a) and cases construing its language, an injured employee may raise the presumption a claim for continuing treatment or care comes within the provisions of 
AS 23.30.095(a), and in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary this presumption will satisfy the employee’s burden of proof as to whether continued treatment or care is medically indicated.
  

Board decisions must be supported by “substantial evidence,” i.e., “such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.”
  The same standard is used in determining whether an employer has rebutted the §120 presumption.
  Where a physician had no opportunity to examine an employee “in any depth,” and where his conclusions were contrary to those of numerous treating physicians, his “knowledge of the case is so slight” as to make his report “worthless” and a “reasonable mind would not accept” his conclusions.  The judiciary may not reweigh evidence before the board.
  But it also will not abdicate its reviewing function and affirm a Board decision that has only “extremely slight” supporting evidence.
  In Black v. Universal Services,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held a “clear and unambiguous” EME report would overcome the §120 presumption, but if it disagrees with opinions of numerous treating physicians a reasonable mind would not accept its conclusions and it would not form a substantial basis to ultimately deny a claim.
  The Court has limited Black’s holding by refusing to reverse a decision “where the reviewing physician’s statement did not stand alone and was consistent with other evidence presented.”
  

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  

The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

AS 23.30.135.  Procedure before the board.  

(a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . . 

AS 23.30.145.  Attorney fees.  

(a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . . 


(b) If an employer . . . otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including reasonable attorney fees.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

Subsection 145(a) authorizes attorney’s fees as a percentage of the amount of benefits awarded to an employee when an employer controverts a claim.  An award under §145(a) may include continuing fees on future benefits.  By contrast, §145(b) requires an employer to pay reasonable attorney’s fees when the employer delays or “otherwise resists” payment of compensation and the employee’s attorney successfully prosecutes his claim.
  Attorney’s fees in workers’ compensation cases should be fully compensatory and reasonable so injured workers have competent counsel available to them.
 

The employee is seeking actual attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b). The Alaska Supreme Court noted in Williams v. Abood
 as follows: 

We have held that awards of attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145 "should be fully compensatory and reasonable, in order that injured workers have competent counsel available to them."  However, this does not mean that an attorney representing an injured employee in front of the board automatically gets full, actual fees. We held in Bouse v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. that an employee is entitled to "full reasonable attorney's fees for services performed with respect to issues on which the worker prevails." (Footnote omitted) 

Further, the award of attorney fees and costs must reflect the contingent nature of workers’ compensation proceedings. 

As we have noted, the objective of awarding attorney's fees in compensation cases is to ensure that competent counsel are available to represent injured workers.
  This objective would not be furthered by a system in which claimants' counsel could receive nothing more than an hourly fee when they win while receiving nothing at all when they lose.
 

AS 23.30.155.  Payment of compensation.  

(a) Compensation under this chapter shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer. . . . .

. . .

AS 23.30.155(p) provides, in part:

An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.

8 AAC 45.082(d) provided, at the time of Employee’s injury::

Medical bills for an employee's treatment are due and payable within 30 days after the date the employer receives the medical provider's bill and a completed report on form 07-6102. Unless the employer disputes the prescription charges or transportation expenses, an employer shall reimburse an employee's prescription charges or transportation expenses for medical treatment within 30 days after the employer receives the medical provider's completed report on form 07-6102 and an itemization of the prescription numbers or an itemization of the dates of travel and transportation expenses for each date of travel. If there is a dispute that delays payment of a medical bill or a medical bill is not paid in full as billed, the employer shall notify the employee and medical provider in writing of the reasons for the partial payment or the deal within 30 days after receipt of the bill and completed report on form 07-6102.  If there is a dispute that delays payment of a prescription or transportation expense reimbursement request or if the prescription or transportation expense reimbursement request is not paid in full, the employer shall notify the employee in writing of the reason for the partial payment or delay.  If the employer makes a partial payment, the employer shall also itemize in writing the prescription or transportation expense requests not paid.
8 AAC 45.142 provide, at the time of Employee’s injury:
(b) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010. If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.
AS 45.45.010 provides:

(a) The rate of interest in the state is 10.5 percent a year and no more money after it is due . . . .
. . . .

ANALYSIS

I. IS THE EMPLOYEE ENTITLED TO MEDICAL BENEFITS IN THE FORM OF INJECTION THERAPY AND SURGERY FOR HER LOW BACK AND NECK FROM JANUARY 10, 2005 AND CONTINUING, AS WELL AS RELATED TRANSPORTATION COSTS?

A. Low Back

Whether or not the work injury is a substantial factor causing the employee’s low back symptoms and disability and need for medical treatment is primarily a factual issue to which the § .120 presumption applies.  Whether or not the work injury is a substantial factor in Employee’s need for ongoing medical treatment in the form of surgery and injections is a complex question of causation for which expert medical testimony is required.  At the first stage of the presumption analysis, without regard to credibility, Employee has raised the presumption she is entitled to surgery for her low back disability, as Dr. Cohen opined she might benefit from lumbar decompression and fusion.  Employee has also raised the presumption of compensability for her claim for medical benefits, specifically injection therapy, for her low back pain and disability for the period from January 2005 and ongoing based on the reports and testimony of her treating physician Dr. Stinson, who opined his regimen of steroid injections is effective in improving Employee’s functioning and relieving the intractable pain in her lumbosacral region.  This evidence is sufficient to raise the §120 presumption and cause it to attach to the claimant’s claim for continuing compensability of the steroid injection treatment and compensability of surgery for her low back symptoms and disability.  
In addressing the presumption analysis’ second step, and without regard to credibility, the employer has presented substantial evidence to rebut the presumption of the compensability of injection therapy and surgical treatment for Employee’s low back disability, through the reports of Dr. Grossenbacher and Dr. Dietrich, who opined Employee’s back pain was unrelated to the work injury, but was caused instead by her preexisting low back condition and multiple surgeries prior to the work injury.  This evidence rebuts the presumption as it provides an alternative explanation for Employee’s symptoms, which, if accepted, rules out the work injury as a substantial cause of her low back symptoms, disability and need for medical treatment.  Since the employer produced substantial evidence the symptoms, any ongoing disability and any need for medical treatment are no longer work-related, the presumption drops out, and Employee must prove all elements of her case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Employee bears the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence and must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts are probably true.  

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, Employee has failed to prove her claim for surgical treatment of her low back disability, as no doctor has opined surgical treatment is reasonable and necessary for her low back, except for Dr. Cohen’s 2004 recommendation for lumbar decompression and fusion.  Dr. Cohen’s 2004 opinion is given little weight, because of the passage of time it is less relevant to Employee’s current low back disability.  The overwhelming weight of the evidence, based upon the opinions of many physicians, including Drs. Peterson, Stinson, Gritzka, Rosenbaum, Leuthardt, Grossenbacher, and Dietrich, is that surgery is not an appropriate treatment for Employee’s low back symptoms and disability.  

However, Employee has proven her claim for continuing compensability of the injection therapy for her low back disability by a preponderance of the evidence.  The reports and testimony of Employee’s treating physician, Dr. Stinson is credible, and his opinions and reports are given a great deal of weight, as they are informative and reliable concerning Employee’s treatment for her low back symptoms from 2000, and ongoing.  Not only is Dr. Stinson the physician who is the most knowledgeable about the employee’s current low back disability, as he has treated her since 2000, but he is also the only physician involved in this case who is board certified in pain medicine.  Based on Dr. Stinson’s medical reports and testimony, the injection therapy
 he provides to Employee is for her work-related injury and provides her with a better quality of life as it assists her to perform her daily activities, sit for longer periods, and provides some relief from her intractable pain.  Also based on Dr. Stinson’s testimony, he plans to administer the steroid injections sparingly, for palliative treatment of Employee’s intractable low back pain and disability.  In addition, according to the medical records and Employee’s testimony, the injection therapy provides her with one to two weeks of relief from her pain and allows her to do more of her daily activities and sleep better during that time.  Thus, based on Dr. Stinson’s testimony and medical reports, as well as Employee’s testimony, the injection therapy meets the criteria under AS 23.30.095(o) and the Alaska Supreme Court decision in Carter for palliative care, as this therapy relieves chronic debilitating pain.  

Based upon Dr. Early’s reports, the work injury is a substantial factor in Employee’s low back disability and chronic pain disorder, and he recommended monthly to quarterly monitoring of her condition for management of medication for her injury-related conditions.  Dr. Early’s recommendation is clearly for ongoing care of her low back symptoms and disability, and does not rule out injection therapy.  Also based on Dr. Early’s opinions, Employee’s chronic pain disorder is related to her general medical condition of her lumbar spine injury,
 and her preexisting condition was permanently aggravated by the work injury, but was likely soft tissue in nature, so that objective evidence is not available.  Pursuant to Dr. Early’s opinion, Employee’s increased pain is consistent with the injury and thus can be a permanent worsening without objective evidence.  The Alaska Supreme Court in Kessick v. Alyeska Pipeline Service Co. (Kessick)
 has recognized the lack of objective signs of an injury in and of itself does not preclude the existence of such an injury, as there are many types of injuries which are not readily disclosed by objective tests.  Also based upon Dr. Early’s reports, Employee’s work injury resulted in additional pain and impairment which would not have occurred at the time it did, in the way it did, and to the degree it did but for the employment.  Pursuant to the Alaska Supreme Court decision in Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler,
 Employee need only prove that “‘but for’ the work injury, she would not have suffered disability at this time, or in this way, or to this degree.”  In addition, under Hester v. State, Public Employees’ Retirement Board (Hester),
 to constitute an aggravation of a preexisting condition, the work injury need only worsen the symptoms of the preexisting condition; there is no requirement the work injury worsen the preexisting condition itself.  Therefore, based on the above analysis, Employee has proven through the opinions of Dr. Early the work injury permanently aggravated her low back symptoms and disability and is a substantial factor in her ongoing need for medical treatment.
According to Dr. Gritzka’s reports, the work injury did aggravate Employee’s prior failed low back surgery syndrome, but he opined it is highly unlikely anything done for Employee after January 10, 2005 would provide any significant benefit.  Dr. Gritzka did acknowledge a physician’s role is to relieve pain, and a sympathetic physician might try procedures and medications to assist Employee, but he did not address Employee’s and Dr. Stinson’s reports and testimony that Employee did benefit from the injections as it gave her relief from her chronic debilitating pain.  Because Dr. Gritzka did not address the issue of palliative care and the relief of chronic pain, less weight is given to his opinion on this issue.  In addition, less weight is given to Dr. Gritzka’s opinion concerning Employee’s chronic pain disorder, as both Dr. Early and Dr. Stinson are more qualified to address this issue.  Although Dr. Gritzka opined chronic pain originates in the brain, and is essentially untreatable, Dr. Early diagnosed Employee with a chronic pain disorder related to a general medical condition, and determined the work injury is the cause of Employee’s chronic pain disorder.  Dr. Early also opined Employee needed treatment, monitoring, and management of her pain medication on a monthly or quarterly basis.  Dr. Early’s recommendation concerning management of Employee’s pain does not preclude the steroid injections recommended and provided by Dr. Stinson.

Less weight is placed on the opinions of Drs. Grossenbacher, Dietrich, and Rosenbaum, as their opinions stating the work injury caused only a temporary aggravation of Employee’s failed low back surgery syndrome are not consistent with the history and facts of the case, where Employee functioned at a high level before the work injury, and has been unable to work and suffered from debilitating chronic pain since the work injury.  Less weight is also given to the Drs. Laycoe’s and Watson’s 1995 EME reports, due to the remoteness in time.

Employer argues less weight should be given to Employee’s complaints of pain, as she has been diagnosed with a cognitive disorder.  Based upon a review of the record, Employee first complained of a decline in her cognitive function, including a loss of memory and concentration to Dr. Gideon in 1999, but Dr. Gideon, based on a neuropsychological evaluation, concluded Employee’s overall neurocognitive functioning was intact.  Subsequently, Dr. Stinson in September of 2000 and clinicians
 at the Langdon Clinic in 2002, assessed a mild cognitive impairment.  More recently, in September 2007, Dr. Gritzka diagnosed a cognitive disorder, and opined this disorder made her chronic pain disorder more difficult to treat.  However, Dr. Early, who also examined Employee in September 2007, did not find any indication of thought disorder, disorientation or confusion, and he did not diagnose a cognitive disorder.  Based on the above summary, and giving the most weight to Dr. Early’s opinion, as his evaluation is the most recent and he is more qualified to diagnose cognitive disorders than Dr. Gritzka, Employee does not have a cognitive disorder.  Moreover, even if she does have a mild or moderate cognitive disorder as diagnosed by Dr. Gritzka, there is no evidence that disorder would be of sufficient severity to render Employee incapable of reporting pain, its location, and whether or not a treatment relieved that pain.

Based on review of the entire record, Employee suffers from a work-related chronic pain disorder, associated with a general medical condition, and based on Employee’s testimony and Dr. Stinson’s medical records and testimony, the treatments Dr. Stinson provides in the form of epidural steroid injections, sacroiliac joint injections, and trigger point injections, are reasonable and necessary to reduce her chronic debilitating pain, which allows her to function better in her activities of daily living and also improves her sleep for at least one to two weeks.  Based on review and consideration of the entire record, and specifically the employee’s testimony, the medical records and the testimony of Dr. Stinson, and Dr. Early’s and Dr. Gritzka’s SIME reports, and also based upon the experience, judgment, observations, facts of the instant case, and inferences drawn from all of the above, the February 20, 1994 work injury is a substantial factor in the employee’s current low back pain and disability and chronic pain disorder, and the injection therapy provided by Dr. Stinson is compensable as palliative care, reasonable and necessary to reduce Employee’s chronic debilitating pain.  

B. Neck

Whether or not the work injury is a substantial factor in Employee’s current neck pain, disability and need for medical treatment in the form of injections and/or surgery is a complex question of causation for which expert medical testimony is required.  At the first stage of the presumption analysis, without regard to credibility, Employee has raised the presumption of compensability for her claim for surgery for her cervical spine disability based upon the reports of treating physician Dr. Cohen, who opined she would benefit from cervical spine surgery.  This evidence is sufficient to raise the §120 presumption and cause it to attach to Employee’s claim for the compensability of surgical treatment for her neck symptoms and disability.  Employee has not raised the presumption she is entitled to injection therapy for her neck pain, as although Dr. Stinson administered steroid injections to Employee’s left C3-4 and C4-5 facetal joints in May 2004, no physician has opined this therapy is reasonable and necessary to treat her neck pain currently.  

In addressing the presumption analysis’ second step, and without regard to credibility, the employer has presented substantial evidence to rebut the presumption of the compensability of surgical treatment for Employee’s neck symptoms and disability based on Dr. Grossenbacher’s and Dr. Dietrich’s opinions the work injury is not a substantial factor in Employee’s cervical spine disability and Dr. Rosenbaum’s opinion no treatment after January 10, 2005 is necessary for the work injuries.  Since the employer produced substantial evidence the symptoms, any ongoing disability and any need for medical treatment are no longer work-related, Employee must prove all elements of her case by a preponderance of the evidence.  

Employee has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence she is currently entitled to injection therapy or surgery for her neck pain and disability.  Based on Dr. Stinson’s opinion and recommendations, Employee received injection therapy for her neck pain on at least three instances, on May 6, 2004, November 8, 2004, and January 12, 2005.  Also, according to Dr. Leuthardt’s November 1, 2005 report, although no surgery could address Employee’s pain issues, pain management at a pain clinic to optimize the medication regimen was indicated.  The steroid injections provided by Dr. Stinson, a pain management specialist, are consistent with the pain management regimen recommended by Dr. Leudardt.  Based on Dr. Stinson’s and Dr. Leuthardt’s opinions, the injection therapy already provided for Employee’s neck pain and disability is compensable.  However, based on a review of the medical records, since that time no doctor has opined steroid injection therapy is a reasonable and necessary treatment, or required for the process of recovery, or necessary to relieve chronic debilitating pain.  Based on Dr. Cohen’s October 2004 opinion, surgery for Employee’s cervical spine was recommended.  However, based on the opinions of Dr. Leuthardt, no surgery could address her complex pain issues.  In addition, Drs. Grossenbacher, Dietrich, and Rosenbaum all opined Employee’s current neck pain and disability is not related to her work injury, and Dr. Grossenbacher specifically recommended against any surgery for Employee, predicting any surgery would not relieve her symptoms and would carry considerable risks because of psychological and physical comorbidities.

Based upon the above analysis, Employee has failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence she is currently entitled to steroid injection therapy or surgery for her work related neck pain and disability.  

II. IS THE EMPLOYEE ENTITLED TO INTEREST ON UNPAID MEDICAL COSTS?

Employee has been awarded past medical benefits.  The law requires payment of interest at the statutory rate for late paid compensation from the date each installment of compensation is due.  While AS 23.30.155(p) was not codified until after Claimant was injured in 1994, the courts have previously, and consistently, instructed the board to award interest to claimants for the time value of money.
  8 AAC 45.142 was in effect beginning on December 14, 1986, and stated the applicable interest rate for injuries occurring, as here, prior to the effective date of AS 23.30.155(p), the applicable interest rate is as set forth at AS 45.45.010.
  Accordingly, unpaid out-of-pocket medical expenses (including medically-related transportation expenses) and interest are awarded to Employee, and as unpaid medical bills, interest is awarded to the unpaid provider, in accord with former AS 23.30.095(l), AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142, on all unpaid benefits awarded by this decision, from the dates on which those benefits were due.  In addition, any health insurance plan, including Medicare and Medicaid, would be entitled to a interest for benefits paid by them.

III. IS THE EMPLOYEE’S ATTORNEY ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS?

The employee is seeking actual attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b).  Based the review of the record, the employer controverted the employee’s claim, and the employee’s attorney has successfully obtained benefits for the employee.  Specifically, the employee’s attorney effectively prosecuted the employee’s entitlement to benefits and the employer actively opposed the employee’s claim for benefits.  The Board concludes we may award attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145(b).  
AS 23.30.145(b) requires the award of attorney's fee and costs be reasonable.  Our regulation 8 AAC 45.180(d) requires a fee awarded under AS 23.30.145(b) be reasonably commensurate with the work performed.  It also requires that the Board consider the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, as well as the amount of benefits involved.  In our awards, the Board attempts to recognize the experience and skills exercised on behalf of injured workers, and to compensate the attorneys accordingly.
  

In light of these factors, the record of this case has been examined.  The employee’s affidavits of fees and costs and statement at the hearing itemize the following for Attorney Joseph Kalamarides:  1) 21.2 hours of attorney time at $300.00 per hour, and 21.5 hours at $350.00 per hour, totaling $13,885.00; and 2) paralegal and other costs totaling $5,588.96.  Thus, the total of the fees and costs for Attorney Joseph Kalamarides is $19,473.96.

The claimed hourly rates of $300.00 and $350.00 are within the reasonable range for experienced employees’ counsel in other cases,
 based on expertise and years of experience.  The employee’s counsel’s brief and arguments at hearing of great benefit to us in considering the disputes in this matter.  This was a contested case, and this hourly rate is reasonable.  Actual attorney’s fees at the rate of $300.00 and $350.00 per hour and costs of $5,885.96 are awarded, but the total award is reduced by 10% as Employee did not prevail on the issues of surgery for her low back symptoms, or current injections and surgery for her neck symptoms and disability.  Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, as well as the amount of benefits resulting from the services obtained, the above-mentioned attorney fees, with the 10% deduction, are reasonable for the mostly successful prosecution of the employee’s claim for benefits. We will award a total of $17,526.56 as reasonable attorney fees, and costs.  

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Employee is entitled to medical benefits, including related transportation costs, for the treatment of her low back disability, including the injection therapy provided by Dr. Stinson, but excluding surgery, from January 10, 2005 and ongoing.

2. Employee is entitled to medical benefits in the form of the injection therapy already provided by Dr. Stinson in 2004 and 2005, including related transportation costs, for treatment of her neck pain and disability.

3. Employee’s claim for current medical benefits in the form of epidural injections or surgery for her neck pain and disability is denied without prejudice.

4. Employee is entitled to interest on any past due medical benefits.

5. Employee’s attorney is entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs.

ORDERS

1. The employer shall pay Employee past medical benefits, starting from January 10, 2005, and ongoing medical benefits for palliative care, including the injection therapy provided by Dr. Stinson, but excluding surgery, for her low back symptoms and disability, pursuant to AS 23.30.095(a).  

2. The employer shall pay Employee past medical benefits starting from January 10, 2005, for the injection therapy already provided by Dr. Stinson in 2004 and 2005 for her neck pain and disability, pursuant to AS 23.30.095(a).

3. The employer shall pay Employee for medically related transportation costs for medical benefits found compensable under this Decision and Order.

4. The employer shall pay any liens for compensable medical benefits paid by another insurance company or Medicare.

5. The employer shall pay interest on all past due benefits pursuant to 8 AAC 45.142, AS 23.30.155(p), AS 09.30.070(a), and AS 45.45.010.
6. The employer shall pay the employee’s attorney’s fees and costs in the amount of $17,526.56, pursuant to AS 23.30.145.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on January 4, 2009.




ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD






Judith DeMarsh, Designated Chair






Don Gray, Member






Tony Hansen, Member

If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court. 
If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128.
RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of BERNADINE SILVA employee/claimant;  v. STATE OF ALASKA., (Self-insured) employer/defendant; Case No. 199403157; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on January 7, 2010.






Cynthia A. Stewart, Office Assistant I
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� 02/25/1994 Chart notes, Resurrection Bay Health Center.


� Id..


� 02/28/1994 Physical Therapy Department Initial Evaluation, Seward General Hospital. 


� Id..


� 03/04/1994 Physical Therapy Department Progress Notes.


� 03/04/1994 Chart Notes, Dr. J. Lewis.


� 03/04/1994 Chart notes, Resurrection Bay Health Center.


� 03/09/1994 Chart Notes, Dr. J. Lewis.


� Id..


� 03/16/1994 Progress Notes, M. Grogan, PT.


� 03/17/1994 Chart Notes, Dr. J. Lewis.


� Id..


� 03/18/1994 Chart Notes, Dr. J. Lewis.


� 03/18/1994 Letter to AWCB from J.E. Lewis, D.O.


� 03/22/1994 Chugach Physical Therapy Patient records and Seward General Hospital Discharge Summary.


� 03/23/1994 Letter to Harbor Adjustment Service from Jim E. Lewis, D.O.


� 03/24/1994 Physician’s Report, Dr. Reinbold.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 03/28/1994 Chart Notes, Ross N. Brudenell.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 03/29/1994 through 04/08/1994 Chart Notes, Chugach Physical Therapy.


� 03/30/1994 Chart Notes, Michael H. Newman, MD.


� 03/30/1994 Chart Notes, Chugach Physical Therapy.


� 04/11/1994 Chart Notes, Dr. Brudenell.


� 04/11/1994 Chart Notes, Dr. Brudenell.


� 04/14/1994 through 04/29/1994, Chugach Physical Therapy Multiple-Set Training Diary; Chugach Physical Therapy Chart Notes for those dates.


� 05/03/1994 Chart Notes, Dr. Newman.


� Id..


� 05/06/1994 Final Report, MRI Spine Lumbar, Dr. McCormick.


� 05/10/1994 Chart Notes, Dr. Newman.


� Id..


� Id..


� 05/10/1994 X-ray report.


� 05/12/1994 Anchorage Diagnostic Imaging Center, Pelvic Bone Scan report.


� Id..


� 05/17/1994 Chart Notes, Dr. Newman.


� Id..


� Id..


� 06/27/1994 Consultation Examination, Dr. Ferris.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� Causalgia is a rare pain syndrome related to partial peripheral nerve injuries. The peripheral nervous system encompasses nerves that extend from the central nervous system of the brain and spinal cord to serve limbs and organs.  http://www.neurosurgery.ucla.edu/body.


� Id..


� 07/05/1994 Operative Report, Alaska Spine Institute.


� 07/05/1994 Letter to Michael Newman, M.D., from Glenn A. Ferris, M.D.


� 07/05/1994 Attending Physician Statement, Dr. Ferris.


� 07/12/1994 Operative Report, Dr. Ferris.


� 07/15/1994 Chart Notes, Dr. Ferris.


� Id..


� 07/19/1994 Operative Report, Dr. Ferris.


� 07/19/1994 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 07/26/1994 Operative Report, Dr. Ferris.


� 07/26/1994 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 08/02/1994 Operative Report, Dr. Ferris.


� 08/02/1994 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� Id..


� 08/11/1994 Operative Report, Dr. Ferris.


� 08/11/1994 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 08/11/1994 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 08/12/1994 Chart Notes, Dr. Ferris.


� 08/23/1994 Chart Notes, Dr. Ferris.


� 08/23/1994 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Lewis.


� Id..


� 08/31/1994 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Lewis.


� 09/01/1994, 09/02/1994 FCE.


� Id..


� 09/06/1994 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 09/06/1994 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 09/16/1994 Radiologist Report, Anchorage Diagnostic Imaging Center.


� 10/03/1994 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� Id..


� 11/08/1994 Report to Harbor Adjustment Service from Bruce E. Bradley, Jr., M.D.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 11/08/1994 Report to Harbor Adjustment Service from Bruce E. Bradley, Jr., M.D.


� 11/11/1994 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 11/11/1994 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 11/15/1994 EMG/NCS report.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 11/15/1994 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 11/21/1994 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 11/20/1994 Operative Report, Dr. Ferris.


� 11/30/1994 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 12/02/1994 Chart Notes, Mormile Physical Therapy.


� 12/06/1994 through 12/15/1994 Chart Notes, Mormile Physical Therapy.


� 12/16/1994 Operative Report, Dr. Ferris.


� 12/20/1994 Operative Report, Dr. Ferris.


� 12/20/1994 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 12/27/1994 Operative Report, Dr. Ferris.


� 11/06/1995 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� Id..


� 11/06/1995 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 01/31/1995 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 02/09/1995 Permanent Partial Impairment Rating Evaluation, Dr. Ferris.


� Id..


� 02/09/1995 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 02/11/1995 EME report.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 03/01/1995 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 03/31/1995 Chart Notes, Dr. Ferris.


� 04/06/1995 Operative Report, Dr. Ferris.


� 04/06/1995 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� Id..


� 04/13/1995 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 04/20/1995 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 04/28/1995 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 05/15/1995 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 05/15/1995 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 05/15/1995 Letter to Dr. Newman from Dr. Ferris.


� 05/18/1995 Psychological Consultation report, Dr. Paul Craig.


� Id..


� Id..


� 05/24/1995 Progress Note, Dr. Paul Craig.


� 07/03/1995 Closure Report, Northern Rehabilitation Services.


� 04/08/1996 Letter report from Dr. Smith to Division of Workers Compensation.


� Id..


� Id..


� 04/08/1996 SIME report of Douglas Smith, M.D.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 07/11/1996 Letter from    Dr. Ferris to Dr. Fox.


� Id..


� 09/23/1996 Chart Notes, Dr. Garner.


� 09/23/1996 Chart Notes, Dr. Garner.


� Id..


� Id..


� 11/17/1996 Physician’s Prediction of Physical Capacities, Dr. Fox.


� Id..


� Chart Notes, Progress Notes, and Prescriptions, 12/26/1996 through 03/19/1998.


� 03/19/1998 Physical Therapy Discharge Summary.


� 03/19/1998 Chart Notes, Dr. Fox.  


� 04/01/1998 Physical Therapy Initial Evaluation, Providence Seward Medical Center.


� 04/01/1998 Physical Therapy Initial Evaluation, Providence Seward Medical Center.


� Id..


� 04/01/1998 through 04/23/1998 Chart Notes, Providence Seward Medical Center.


� 04/22/1998  Physical Therapy Discharge Summary, Providence Seward Medical Center.


� 04/18/1998 through 05/19/1998 Chart Notes, Dr. Fox.


� 08/13/1998 report of Dr. Gordon.


� 08/13/1998 report of Dr. Gordon.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� Dr. Yeung’s 03/31/1999 report.


� Id..


� Id..


� 04/02/1999 Admit Note, Dr. Du Pen.


� 05/05/1999 Chart Notes, Dr. Du Pen, Swedish Medical Center.


� Id..


� 05/05/1999 Chart Notes, Dr. Du Pen.


� 05/05/1999 Chart Notes, Dr. LaCross.


� Id..


� 05/05/1999 Chart Notes, Dr. LaCross.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 05/06/1999 Chart Notes, Dr. Du Pen, Swedish Medical Center.


� 05/14/1999 Chart Notes, Dr. Du Pen, Swedish Medical Center.


� 05/21/1999 Chart Notes, Dr. Fox.


� Id..


� 07/15/1999 Initial Consultation Report, Dr. Chandler.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 08/03/1999 Health Care Progress Notes, Dr. Fox.


� 08/03/1999 through 11/16/1999, Health Care Progress Notes, Dr. Fox.


� 11/19/1999 Letter to Dr. Fox from Dr. Gideon.


� Id..


� 11/19/1999 Letter to Dr. Fox from Dr. Gideon.


� 11/19/1999 Letter to Dr. Fox from Dr. Gideon.


� 02/03/2000 Neuropsychological Evaluation, Deborah Gideon, Ph.D.


� 02/03/2000 Neuropsychological Evaluation, Dr. Gideon.


� 02/03/2000 Neuropsychological Evaluation, Dr. Gideon.


� 02/03/2000 Neuropsychological Evaluation, Dr. Gideon.


� 02/03/2000 Neuropsychological Evaluation, Dr. Gideon.


� 03/03/2000 Clinic Note, Dr. Sanders, Providence Seward Medical Center.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 04/06/2000 PSMC Clinic Note, Dr. Sanders.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 06/06/2000 Physician’s Report, Dr. Peterson.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 06/23/2000 PSMC Clinic Note, Dr. Cook.


� Id..


� 06/23/2000 PSMC Clinic Note, Dr. Cook.


� 08/09/2000 Consultation Report – Advanced Pain Center of Alaska.


� Id..


� Id..


� 08/10/2000 Procedure Report, Advanced Pain Center of Alaska.


� Id..


� 08/21/2000 Initial Physical Therapy Evaluation, Advanced Pain Therapeutics.


� Id..


� Id..


� 08/21/2000 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Center of Alaska.


� 08/22/2000 Operative Note, Alaska Regional Hospital.


� 08/22/2000 Physical Therapy Progress Note, Valerie Phelps PT.


� Id..


� 09/07/2000 PSMC Clinic Note, Dr. Stanfield.


� Id..


� 09/20/2000 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Center of Alaska.


� Id..


� Id..


� 09/21/2000 Physical Therapy Progress Note, Valerie Phelps PT.


� 09/21/2000 Operative Note, Laurence Stinson, M.D.


� 10/03/2000 Operative Note, Dr. Stinson. 


� 12/07/2000 Operative Note, Dr. Stinson.


� Id..


� 03/22/2001 Operative Note, Dr. Stinson.


� Id..


� Id..


� 05/03/2001 Operative Note, Dr. Stinson.


� Id..


� 05/31/2001 Patient Referral Form and Chart Notes, Providence Seward Family Care.


� 05/31/2001 Patient Referral Form and Chart Notes, Providence Seward Family Care.


� Id..


� 07/20/2001 Physician’s Report, Dr. Peterson.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 08/10/2001 Letter from Dr. Johnston to Dr. Peterson.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 08/10/2001 Letter from Dr. Johnston to Dr. Peterson.


� Id..


� 08/22/2001 Physician’s Report, Dr. Peterson.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 08/23/2001 Patient Data and Medical Documentation, Advanced Pain Therapeutics.


� 08/23/2001 Progress Notes, Providence Behavioral Medicine Group.


� Id..


� 08/23/2001 Operative Note, Dr. Stinson.


� 08/31/2001 MRI Report, Providence Imaging Center.


� Id..


� 09/20/2001 Physician’s Report, Dr. Peterson.


� Id..


� Id..


� 09/20/2001 Progress Notes, Providence Behavioral Medicine Group.


� 10/04/2001 Operative Note, Dr. Stinson.


� Id..


� Id..


� 11/07/2001 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska.


� Id..


� 11/28/2001 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska.


� 11/28/2001 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska.


� Id..


� 11/28/2001 Operative Note, Dr. Stinson.


� 12/13/2001 Patient Data & Medical Documentation, Advanced Pain Therapeutics.


� 01/14/2002 and 01/16/2002 Patient Data & Medical Documentation, Advanced Pain Therapeutics.


� 01/16/2002 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 01/17/2002 Patient Data and Medical Documentation, Advanced Pain Therapeutics of Alaska.


� 01/17/2002 Operative Note, Dr. Stinson.


� 02/13/2002 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska.


� 02/13/2002 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska.


� 02/13/2002 Patient Data and Medical Documentation, Advanced Pain Therapeutics; RS Medical Purchase Agreement.


� 02/14/2002 Re-Evaluation Form, Providence Mental Health Unit.


� Id..


� Id..


� 05/02/2002 Progress Notes, PBMG Langdon Clinic.


� Id..


� Id..


� 05/08/2002 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska.


� Id..


� Id..


� 05/15/2002 MRI Report, L-Spine, Alaska Regional Diagnostic Imaging.


� 05/15/2002 MRI Report, L-Spine, Alaska Regional Diagnostic Imaging.


� Id..


� 06/05/2002 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 07/18/2002 Operative Note, Dr. Stinson.


� Id..


� 08/07/2002 Physical Therapy Progress Note, Advanced Pain Therapeutics of Alaska.


� 08/07/2002 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska.


� Id..


� 08/07/2002 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska.


� 08/14/2002 Progress Notes, PBMG Langdon Clinic.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 08/28/2002 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 09/05/2002 Progress Notes, PBMG Langdon Clinic.


� Id..


� 09/18/2002 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska.


� Id..


� 10/08/2002 through 10/22/2002 Chart Notes, Seward Acupuncture & Massage Therapy Center.


� 10/23/2002 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska.


� Id.. 


� Id..


� 12/05/2002 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska.


� Id..


� Id..


� Id..


� 12/17/2002 Operative Note, Dr. Stinson.


� 01/06/2003 Progress Note, Dr. Stinson.


� 02/17/2003 Progress Note, Dr. Stinson. 


� 01/06/2003 Progress Note, Dr. Stinson.


� 01/06/2003 and 02/17/2003 Progress Notes, Dr. Stinson.


� 04/01/2003 Operative Note, Dr. Stinson.


� Id..


� 04/14/2003 Operative Note, Dr. Stinson.


� 04/15/2003 MRI of the Lumbar Spine, Alaska Open Imaging Center.


� 04/16/2003 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers.


� 04/16/2003 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers.


� 04/17/2003 Operative Note, Dr. Stinson.


� 04/29/2003 Pre-Op History and Physical, Dr. Stinson.


� 04/29/2003 Operative Note, Dr. Stinson.


� 05/15/2003 Operative Note, Dr. Stinson.


� 06/10/2003 Operative Note, Dr. Stinson.


� 06/27/2003 Physician’s Report, Dr. Peterson.


� Id..


� 07/21/2003 Progress Note, Dr. Stinson.


� 07/21/2003 Progress Note, Dr. Stinson.


� 10/14/2003 Progress Note, Pre-Op History and Physical, and Operative Note, Dr. Stinson.


� Id..


� 12/01/2003 Letter from Dr. Beard to Dr. Stinson, with Electrodiagnostic Studies.


� Id..


� 12/22/2003 Progress Note, Dr. Stinson.


� 12/23/2003 Procedure Note, Dr. Stinson.


� 12/24/2003 CT Pelvis, Providence Health System, read by Leonard Sisk, M.D.


� Id..


� 02/09/2004 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers.


� PSMC ER clinic note, 4/10/04.


� 04/10/2004 Emergency Room Note, Providence Health System.


� Id.


� 05/05/2004 Progress Note, Advanced Pain Centers.


� Id..


� 05/06/2004 Procedure Note, Dr. Stinson.


� 06/28/2004 Chart Notes, Neurological Consultants of Alaska, Dr. Downs.


� Id..


� Id..


� 06/29/2004 MRI Cervical Spine.


� 07/19/2004 Chart Notes, Dr. Downs.


� 07/26/2004 Letter from Dr. Cohen to Dr. Stinson, with attached consultation report.


� Id..


� August and September Therapy Notes, Providence Seward Medical Center.


� 09/20/2004 MRI Spine Lumbar, Providence Health System.


� Id..


� 10/07/2004 Addendum, Dr. Cohen, Anchorage Neurosurgical Associates.


� 10/07/2004 Follow-Up Evaluation notes, Dr. Cohen, Anchorage Neurosurgical Associates.


� Dr. Stinson’s procedure note, 11/18/04.


� Id..


� 12/09/2004 Independent Medical Evaluation, Dr. Grossenbacher and Dr. Dietrich.
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